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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE
MARKET (“"GEM"”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Code
Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particular given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquires, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”)
of Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the audited annual results of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2016 (the “Year"). The below is the review of the
Company’s operations during the Year.

BUSINESS DURING THE YEAR

The slowdown in the economic growth of the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") continued in the Year. Revenue from the tobacco
agricultural machinery operation and revenue from the digital
television operation have significantly dropped. In mitigating the
effect, the Group has started up two new operations in Hong Kong,
namely car beauty and money lending. The car beauty workshop
in Hong Kong started on 30 December 2015 and the money lending
commenced business in the first quarter of the Year. These two
operations have been making contribution to the Group.

CAPITAL REORGANISATION AND SHARE
CONSOLIDATION

On 24 August 2015 the Group has completed the reorganisation
of the share capital of the Company (the “Capital Reorganisation”)
which included, among other things, (i) the share consolidation, (ii)
change in board lot size, (iii) capital reduction, (iv) share sub-division,
(v) share premium reduction and (vi) credit to contributed surplus
account. The purposes of the Capital Reorganisaton are to increase
the liquidity in trading of the shares of the Company and the market
value of the shares could be more precisely reflect the intrinsic value
of the Company. Moreover, it may facilitate any dividend payment
as and when appropriate in future. The Capital Reorganisation is in
the interests of the Company and the Company'’s shareholders as a
whole.

To further enhance the trading of the shares of the Company and
to more precisely reflect the intrinsic value of the Company, the
Company further consolidated the shares of the Company after the
Capital Reorganisation by consolidating every four shares into one
share. This further consolidation exercise was completed on 15
October 2015.
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Chairman’s Statement FfEfE=E

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

To meet the imminent need of funding to cope with overdue loan
and bank borrowings, to lower the debt level, and to avoid the
possibility of interest penalty, default risk and other potential legal
disputes, the Company has completed various fund raising activities
during the Year.

During the Year, the Company has completed the placing of
convertible bonds and raised the net proceeds of approximately
HK$123 million. On the other hands, the Company has completed
three tranches of placing of new shares and raised approximately
HK$38.6 million.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

A wholly owned subsidiary of the Company has involved in certain
legal proceedings in the PRC. The Company is making progress in
negotiation with the claimants and will make announcements on any
substantial progress as and when necessary.

PROSPECTS

Economic growth in the PRC was slowed down and coupled with
the shrinking demand have severely hindered the sales of tobacco
related agricultural machines. The Company is very cautious and
prudent in running the business of manufacture and sale of tobacco
agricultural machinery. The Company will not rule out any possibility
to have overhaul on the whole tobacco agricultural machinery
segment or to dispose of this segment if opportunity arises.

Despite the slow economic growth in the PRC, the Company
considers that there are more opportunities arising from the
flourishing culture, media and entertainment industry in the PRC.
One of our major investments, Hunan Xiaoxiang Digital Television
Broadcast Company Limited (“Hunan Digital TV"), will strengthen its
operation in the three broadcasting Channels 92, 93 and 94 in Hunan
Province by enhancing the scope and quality of TV program, featured
films and advertisements.

The Company considers that there is growth potential in car beauty
business and money lending business in Hong Kong. The Company
plans to expand its market share by opening more shops for car
beauty business in the next financial year. Meanwhile, the Group will
put more resources on the money lending business. In future, it is
believed that these two operations could provide steady cash inflow
for the Group.

6 Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2016

A

&R

A IR S B S UL R 3 R AR 1T
B REGHITRBETEDS  RORRRL
EEEEMEG - FRRERKFERRSHEE
A -

aF

RAFRER - NRA)EREEARRES - KEM
SRIBFRARIZLAEET - m— 7 H » KARA
ST =HECEF D - BEA3BABET °

2EFRBSRNFBEZETIEREFR
l

A =

B RNAE - I ERRELR - HEREMRRE
BERBNEFEWMIEE - ARF T2/ MOEERL
EEERERERW BUENIHEXT - RS
B - ARBB TR EIER R ERM D BETTRE
HESRHEZD B LM ATBENE -

BEPBEEEERNE  ARRRBTEEDER
RIXE ~ RERIREITEHBREZ K - HME
h-IRTERE O HEEABTFERARAR (NS
MHBFER])  MEBEAERNE  BBEY
EECHERRESEERMAXRERNBEE2
BMOA=EEESRE 2 25& -

ARBRR  RBEBNAEXRTEGERERKA
BIREEN - NRFREEIN TMEMBRFEREB R
EXTEBHAREZEHREEMSEEER - Rl
AEETBRAENREXFRNELER - B -
BEZMBXRBH A RARERERTNREAA



Chairman’s Statement FfEi& =

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude to our
shareholders, business partners and consumers for their great
support, and | also want to appreciate all employees of the Group
for their hard work and contributions in the past year. | hope we
achieve a better future through joint effort.

JINGQUAN YINGZI
Chairman

27 June 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in manufacture
and sale of tobacco agricultural machinery in the PRC, provision of
digital television services in the PRC, provision of car beauty services
in Hong Kong, and money lending business in Hong Kong. The Group
continued to suffer from shrinking demand, market uncertainties,
sluggish economy and other unfavour factors in respect of tobacco
agricultural machinery business in the PRC. The management has
been making its best effort to overcome such hurdles by adoption
of stringent cost control and other possible measures. Meanwhile,
the Company has started up the car beauty business and the money
lending business in the late 2015 and early 2016 respectively.

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Tobacco agricultural machinery operation

Revenue from this operation for the Year significantly decreased by
89.3% to approximately HK$13.2 million (2015: HK$122.9 million).
Such decrease was primarily due to the shrinkage of sales and
uncertain market conditions of tobacco flue-curing barns in the PRC.
The segment recorded a loss of approximately HK$191.8 million (2015:
HK$72.7 million) which included the impairment losses on assets
of approximately HK$105.6 million (2015: HK$59.9 million) and the
provision for legal claim of approximately HK$55.0 million. Similar to
last financial year, the rising production costs and direct overheads
have continued to engulf the profit from this segment. Despite
management'’s efforts on the cost control, the performance of this
operation is still far from satisfactory. The Company will not obviate
the possibility to dispose of this segment if opportunity arises.

Digital television operation

This operation is operated by Hunan Digital TV, an indirectly owned
subsidiary of the Company. Hunan Digital TV is currently operating
three broadcasting channels, namely Channel 92, 93 and 94 in
Hunan Province.

Revenue from this operation for the Year decreased by 31.8% to
approximately HK$5.5 million (2015: HK$8.1 million), accounted
for 28.5% (2015: 6.2%) of the Group's revenue from continuing
operations. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the
reduction in advertising income generated from the broadcasting
resulting from the strong substitution from the internet media. The
culture, media and entertainment related business are fast growing
along with the increase in the disposable personal income in the
PRC, so the management believes the market is full of expansion
capacity and the performance of the digital television broadcasting
could be uplift in the future. To grasp such advantages, the Company
has enlarged its capital injection in Hunan Digital TV for its further
development. The Company is optimistic that there would be a
sustainable growth in the next financial year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis &2 [E515m & 24

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Car beauty operation

The Group has launched the first car beauty workshop in Hong Kong
on 30 December 2015 which targets on mid-to-high end private cars.
The main service rendered at present is coating, which provides
effective protection and resistance against water, weather and
temperature on the car body. In order to expand its market share,
the Company has set up one more workshop at Kowloon Bay and it is
going to commence business in July 2016.

In May 2016, the subsidiary of the Group has been engaged as the
sole agent of a Japan car beauty product manufacturer in Hong
Kong. All materials used in the car beauty workshop are directly
imported from this Japanese manufacturer with an aim of bringing a
high quality of the services to the customers.

Revenue from this operation for the Year was approximately
HK$718,000, accounted for 3.7% of the Group revenue from
continuing operations. The Company has formulated strategic
planning for this operation and believes this operation will provide
steady revenue for the Group in the forthcoming financial years.

Money lending operation

The Group has successfully applied for Money Lenders Licence
on 8 March 2016 and the business of money lending has officially
launched during the Year. Though the revenue from this operation
for the Year was tiny, the Company believes the business will
continue to grow in the coming years.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the Year, the Group’s revenue from continuing operations was
approximately HK$19.5 million (2015: HK$131.1 million), representing
a decrease of 85.2% as compared to last year.

Revenue from sale of tobacco agricultural machinery, accounted
for 67.7% of the Group's total revenue, showed a decrease of 89.3%
to approximately HK$13.2 million (2015: HK$122.9 million). The
significant decline in revenue was mainly due to the sales shrinkage
of tobacco flue-curing barns and uncertain operation factors and
other market uncertainties in the major tobacco-growing areas in the
PRC.

DA ()
REEL R

AEER -_T-RAF+-A=+HEREBHELER
@ imflRERB R TEXDIEM o BRIATIR
2 T ERGRIEAR - LARHE R KBy 1K
RARAMBEHES ZBE - REALRARZTIHHE
BE  HERNBRERR —FERLEN -F—X
FEARRELR -

RZZB—A"FRA AEEZFRAREXS—KA
RABRBDERER CBBBARNE - BRE
XBERZAEMPSER AR B ARERED
EEAEPHREEENIR

I RBRARFEZ WA RLIT718,000/8 7T - AL
EREFELEEE 2 WALZIT% - KRB H
BT HIRTRES MR8 - WARS LIS AR KRS
BEFERASBERERERA -

BER

AEBENR-ZE—R"F=AN\BRYBEREARR
RYRAFEEAFRBERS - BEHEBNA
FEZWARUN - AR RBERRRBEZER

EES T b

B 5 Bl R

A

RAFE  AEBBBCEERZRABLN195H
EBT(ZE—AF 13N1BEBT)  BEERW
185.2% ©

REHEEE BEMW 2 WAGEAERBIRAZ
67.7% * WP 8I3%EX 132 EE T(ZE—H
FIRIBFEBT) - WARBRLOFEHNEE
MIEFHEZE - N EPRFSREBEME 2T
FARA & B R = M B 5 T RARAE = AT ER ©

FHEREEZERERAT —TNFFR 9



Management Discussion and Analysis &2 E&1:m & 247

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

Revenue from digital television services accounted for approximately
28.5% of the Group’s total revenue, showed a decrease of
approximately 31.8% to approximately HK$5.5 million (2015: HK$8.1
million). The significant decline in revenue was mainly due to the
reduction in advertising income generated from the broadcasting
channels. Nevertheless, the subscription fee of pay-television
programs slightly increased.

Cost of sales and services and Gross Profit

The Group recorded total cost of sales and services from continuing
operations for the Year of approximately HK$16.1 million (2015:
HK$90.7 million). Overall gross profit for the Year generated from
continuing operation has significantly decreased by 91.6% to
approximately HK$3.4 million (2015: HK$40.4 million). The gross profit
margin decreased to 17.4% (2015: 30.8%), resulting from soaring
direct costs and production overheads of tobacco flue-curing barns.

Distribution costs

The Group recorded distribution costs from continuing operations
of approximately HK$9.4 million for the Year (2015: HK$29.2 million),
amounted to approximately 48.5% (2015: 22.2%) of the total revenue.
The decrease in distribution costs was mainly attributable to a mix
of the proportional decrease in revenue, certain unavoidable direct
labour cost and lay-off expenses. Direct labour costs involved in
distribution costs were approximately HK$4.9 million (2015: HK$7.6
million) which account for approximately 51.9% (2015: 26.3%) of total
distribution costs of the Year from continuing operations.

Administrative expenses

During the Year, the administrative expenses from continuing
operations for the Year have increased by 20.7% to approximately
HK$41.3 million (2015: HK$34.2 million) which mainly due to write-
down of inventories of approximately HK$7.4 million. However,
certain fixed costs could not be reduced in line with the reduction of
revenue such as depreciation on property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$4.5 million (2015: HK$4.4 million) and staff costs
of approximately HK$10.7 million (2015: HK$10.6 million). The Group
will continue to adopt the stringent cost controls in the forthcoming
years.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Finance costs

Interest expenses from continuing operations for the Year were
approximately HK$28.0 million (2015: HK$25.9 million). The amount
included the interests on bank and other loans of approximately
HK$20.9 million (2015: HK$25.9 million) and the interests on
convertible bonds of approximately HK$7.1 million which were
issued in November 2015 with the effective interest rate of 18.5%
per annum. The interests on bank and other loans were reduced by
19.2% mainly due to the partial repayment of the loans. In the view
of the heavy finance costs and the default risk arising from the bank
borrowings in the PRC, the Company has been actively negotiating
with the existing major bankers for debt restructuring or other
arrangement.

Loss for the year and loss attributable to owners
of the Company

As a result of the above factors, loss for the Year increased by
73.8% to approximately HK$234.0 million (2015: HK$134.6 million)
and the loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year
was approximately HK$233.4 million (2015: HK$133.5 million) after
share of loss with the non-controlling interests. Loss for the Year
was mainly attributable to impairment losses on trade and other
receivables of approximately HK$93.2 million and provision for legal
claim of approximately HK$55.0 million. The loss per share was
HK$2.20 (2015: HK$1.97) and the loss per share from continuing
operations was HK$2.20 (2015: HK$2.06).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FUND RAISING
ACTIVITIES

As at 31 March 2016, the number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company was 108,123,473 shares (2015: 3,782,938,941 shares).
Additional shares may be issued by way of conversion of the
convertible bonds which if fully converted would result in the issuance
of 2,600,000,000 shares of the Company.

Placing of new shares under general mandate

During the Year, the Company has completed three tranches of the
placing of new shares under general mandate and a total of 542
million new ordinary shares of the Company were allotted and issued
to independent third parties. The aggregate net proceeds raised from
the placing were approximately HK$38.6 million and subsequently
used as general working capital including the repayment of
borrowings and interests.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FUND RAISING
ACTIVITIES (Continued)

Capital reorganisation

During the Year, the Board has implemented the Capital
Reorganisation which involved, among other things, (i) the share
consolidation, (i) change in board lot size, (iii) capital reduction, (iv)
share sub-division, (v) share premium reduction and (vi) credit to
contributed surplus account. The Capital Reorganisation was duly
passed as the special resolution of the Company at the special
general meeting of the Company (the “SGM") held on 21 August
2015 and took effective on 24 August 2015. Details and effect
of the Capital Reorganisation were disclosed in the Company’'s
announcements dated 17 July 2015 and 21 August 2015 and the
Company’s circular dated 29 July 2015.

Placing of convertible bonds under specific
mandate

On 28 August 2015, the Company entered into the placing agreement
with the placing agent, pursuant to which the placing agent agreed
amongst other things to procure not less than six placees to
subscribe for up to HK$250 million of the convertible bonds on a best
effort basis by one or more tranches of not less than HK$10 million
each. Details and effect of the placing of convertible bonds under
specific mandate were disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 28 August 2015, 22 September 2015 and 14 October 2015 and
the Company's circular dated 24 September 2015. The Company has
finally completed the placing of convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$130 million took place on 5 November
2015. The net proceeds from the placing of convertible bonds were
approximately HK$123.5 million, out of which HK$40.4 million was
used for settlement of borrowings and interests; HK$6.5 million was
used for the launch of the car beauty and maintenance workshop;
HK$4.5 million was used for the fund of money lending business,
HK$12.4 million was used for operating expenses of the Group; and
the remaining amount of HK$59.7 million is maintained at bank and
will be used for repayment of borrowings.

Share consolidation

During the year, the Board proposed to implement the consolidation
of every four issued and unissued shares of par value of HK$0.0001
each into one consolidated share of par value of HK$0.0004
each. Such resolution has been duly passed by the Company’s
shareholders (the “Shareholder(s)”) at the SGM held on 14 October
2015 and the share consolidation has taken effect on 15 October
2015. Details and effect of the share consolidation were disclosed
in the Company’s announcements dated 11 September 2015, 21
September 2015 and 14 October 2015 and the Company'’s circular
dated 24 September 2015.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2016, the Group's cash and cash equivalents were
approximately HK$64.1 million (2015: HK$8.0 million). The Group'’s
current ratio, being the current assets of approximately HK$233.8
million (2015: HK$284.1 million) divided by the current liabilities
of approximately HK$452.0 million (2015: HK$461.5 million), was
computed as 0.52 (2015: 0.62). The management viewed that the
ratio was not healthy and will try to improve the overall financial
soundness and sustainability of the Group.

The Group's total indebtedness at 31 March 2016 comprised the
convertible bonds, borrowings, amount due to a director and
amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary with the
aggregate amount of approximately HK$389.5 million (2015: HK$345.9
million). As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Legal Proceedings”
below, the small and medium-sized enterprise placement bonds
(the “SME Private Bonds") with the aggregate principal amount of
approximately HK$20.3 million (2015: HK$49.7 million) were already
overdue and the Company received a civil judgement regarding
the dispute over the SME Private Bonds. Besides, the bank loans
with the aggregate amount of approximately HK$203.6 million are
either overdue or repayable within one year. The gearing ratio of the
Group, being the total indebtedness divided by total assets excluding
deferred tax assets and liabilities, was 143.1% (2015: 102.5%) at the
Year. The incremental of the ratio was mainly due to the issuance of
the convertible bonds during the year. To cope with the imminent
need for settlement of the loans and trimming down the Group's
debt level to a healthy level, the management is considering other
fund raising opportunities.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE RATE
AND TREASURY POLICIES

The majority of the Group’s cash balances and transactions were
either denominated in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars. The Group
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
As at 31 March 2016 and 2015, the Group did not have any hedging
instruments.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had 73 (2015: 164) full-time
employees including the Directors. Total staff costs from continuing
operations for the Year, including director’'s emoluments were
approximately HK$15.8 million (2015: HK$18.9 million).

ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies for the year ended
31 March 2016.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’'s certain leasehold land and
buildings with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$21.2
million (2015: HK$36.6 million) were pledged to secure the bank
borrowings of a PRC subsidiary.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had contingent liabilities in terms
of potential litigations in the PRC of total amount of approximately
HK$11.3 million (2015: Nil).

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2016.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any significant capital commitment as at 31
March 2016.
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

(a)

(2015) Xi Min Chu Zi No. 0005+

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 18 June
2015, there was a legal proceeding in the PRC (the “PRC
Proceeding”), namely (2015) Xi Min Chu Zi No. 0005* ((2015)£5
R A7 500055%) whereby lJiangsu Kedi, an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, together with Jiangsu
Zhongsai Environment Technology Company Limited#* (s
BEIRERIFEBRRAR]), Shan Xiaochang* (88 &) and Shan
Zhuojun# (B8 FE), were named as co-defendants in their
capacity of guarantors to the Alleged Loan (as defined in
aforesaid announcement) owing by Jiangsu Yonglu Fertilizer
Ccompany Limited (“Jiangsu Yonglu")* (I &k &R BRA
7)) to the plaintiff, Mei Jingsong* (1§$)#4). The hearing of
the PRC Proceeding was held on 4 August 2015. A judgment
was subsequently handed down against Jiangsu Yonglu
and the co-defendants. Jiangsu Yonglu was required to pay
RMB44.6 million together with the interests incurred thereon
to the plaintiff, and the other co-defendants were required
to undertake the responsibilities of joint guarantee but were
granted the right of recourse against Jiangsu Yonglu. The
Company is in the course of seeking legal advice from its PRC
legal advisor and will make further announcement(s) on any
significant development.

Shan Xiaochang (“Mr. Shan”) was the legal representative of
Jiangsu Kedi at the date of signing the guarantee in question
over the Alleged Loan during the material time. According
to a declaration made by Mr. Shan dated 9 June 2015, he
confirmed that the Board has never authorised him to enter
into such guarantee on behalf of Jiangsu Kedi. In the opinion
of the PRC legal advisor of the Company, the validity of the
guarantee in question over the Alleged Loan is doubtful.
However, based on the civil judgment dated 24 May 2016,
the Directors made the full provision of HK$55,002,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2016.

PEE LN
(@ (2015)8% R )7 500055

BOARARBHA-T—AF AT NA
ZREMBRE - ARARRFES R —BA
EFA(THEFR] - QR0 HRNF
SE00055% * #E Ut - JTEREBE (AR R Z
2EFAR)ERPEREMBERRAF
BRENEEENIHAEERBERAR
(DI PRAERIREB IR IEE
REBELMARE) 2ERAFDEETE
REARRSE - FEFARZKRAR_F -1
FNAAEBEIT  TEKE IR ERE
BRIEEFDR - BRITEFAKERRESTA
R¥44. 6B BTUERERHE - AR
SRIEBRTAREREBTZEME  HER
AT ERKAIBIE Z R - RABRIEAE
TEZRERSERER - WHHEMA
BEARBRFHE—TRE -

REEgREZ - BERg([EiA4E ) NERE
REBEEPZERZABEEIH B
FEAR - BREEBELEEHLBHAE-Z
—AFNANBZER FEIRAESSRH
RIRERRKRIEHRIMET I ARIER - K
AEIFEEARBRERE  EEEREET
ZERZEBMEKSE - AT - AR BHA
TE-RNFREAZFTMBZREBHR £
ERBE-_Z—RFZA=1+—HLEHFE
B B BB 555,002,000/ 7T °

FHEREEZERERAT —TNFFR 15



Management Discussion and Analysis &2 E&1:m & 247

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS (Continued)

(b)

()

16

(2015) Xi Bin Shang Chu Zi No. 00179+#

Jiangsu Kedi received a civil judgment, namely (2015) Xi
Bin Shang Chu Zi No. 00179* ((2015) £5)& & 11 55001795%)
whereby Jiangsu Kedi, together with Yi Xing Shen Li Chemical
Company Limited* (R &R F{t THR A E]), Ma Jungan* (5
), liang Yiqun* (32:2%8%) and Pan Xiaogint (BEEZ), were
named as co-defendants in their capacity of guarantors of the
a loan amounted to RMB4.4 million owned by Shi Lixin (52 F
{Z) to the plaintiff, Wuxi City Binhu District Taihu Rural Village
Small Loan Company Limited# (45 & # @ ASH 2 A/ NEE
HBERAT).

After a preliminary investigation, the Directors are of opinion
that the allegation made by the plaintiff against Jiangsu Kedi
is not justifiable. To the best knowledge and information
available, the Group and Jiangsu Kedi have never authorised
the provision of the alleged guarantee to the plaintiff over the
loan. Nevertheless, the Group has established a committee
and engaged a PRC legal advisor to follow up this litigation.
The Company will make further announcement(s) on any
significant development of this litigation when it considers
necessary.

(2015) Xi Bin Shang Chu Zi No. 00180*

Jiangsu Kedi received a civil judgment, namely (2015) Xi
Bin Shang Chu Zi No. 00180¢ ((2015) $5:& 7 #15% 500180%%)
whereby Jiangsu Kedi, together with Yi Xing Shen Li Chemical
Company Limited* (B 8 B F{t THBR A 7)), Jiang Yiqun# (35
B¥) and Pan Xiaogin* (&REZE), were named co-defendants in
their capacity of guarantors of the a loan amounted to RMB5
million owned by Ma Jungan* (F5& &) to the plaintiff, Wuxi
City Binhu District Taihu Rural Village Small Loan Company
Limited* (f& 85T /&R A B ERN/ NEEFER A A).

After a preliminary investigation, the Directors are of opinion
that the allegation made by the plaintiff against Jiangsu Kedi
is not justifiable. To the best knowledge and information
available, the Group and Jiangsu Kedi have never authorised
the provision of the alleged guarantee to the plaintiff over the
loan. Nevertheless, the Group has established a committee
and engaged a PRC legal advisor to follow up this litigation.
The Company will make further announcement(s) on any
significant development of this litigation when it considers
necessary.
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS (Continued)

(d)

(2015) Xi Zhong Bao Zi No. 0062*

The Company received a civil judgment of (2015) Xi Zhong
Bao Zi No. 0062 ((2015)#5 1% tr T 8500625%) (the "Judgment”)
on 2 September 2015, which was related to a dispute
(the "Dispute”) arising from the small and medium-sized
enterprise placement bonds (the “SME Private Bonds") of
outstanding aggregate principal amount of RMB33.3 million.
According to the Judgment, the applicants of the Dispute
(the “Applicants”) had applied for arbitration in May 2015.
The Applicants had demanded to freeze the sum of RMB41
million in the bank account of Jiangsu Kedi or other assets
of equivalent amount of Jiangsu Kedi. Up to the date of this
report, the Company has repaid the Applicants RMB15.6
million together with relevant accrued interest of the SME
Private Bonds. For the remaining outstanding principal, the
Company, through its legal advisor is actively in negotiating
with the Applicants in the PRC. The Company will make
further announcement(s) on any substantial progress towards
the Dispute when it considers necessary. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 4 September
2015.

The English name in this report is for reference only. The official
name is in Chinese.
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Biographical Details of Directors
SEBREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. JINGQUAN Yingzi, aged 41, joined the Group and appointed
as an executive Director on 22 November 2010. She is the Chairman
of the Company and is responsible for the formulation of corporate
strategy and steering the overall development of the Group. Ms.
Jingquan has extensive experience in strategic planning and
management for corporate in the PRC. Ms. Jingquan is also the
chairman of the nomination committee and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. CHIN Wai Keung Richard, aged 66, joined the Group and was
appointed as an executive Director on 15 August 2014. Mr. Chin
has over 35 years of extensive management experience in trading,
contracting and finance business and over 12 years of experience
in the positions of managing director of multi-national corporations.
Mr. Chin was the chairman and an executive director of Intelli-Media
Group (Holdings) Limited (now known as Pan Asia Mining Limited),
a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM") of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock
Code: 8173) from 2006 to 2009. During 2002 to 2004, Mr. Chin was
the deputy chairman and an executive director of Dickson Group
Holdings Limited (now known as Richly Field China Development
Limited), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 313). In December 2000, Mr. Chin was appointed as
an executive director (re-designated to a non-executive director in
April 2001) of Hung Fung Group Holdings Limited (now known as
Poly Capital Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 1141) (“Hung Fung”), a
company incorporated in Bermuda and was then principally engaged
in the designing, manufacturing and selling of toys. Subsequent to
resignation of Mr. Chin as a non-executive director in December
2001 and as far as Mr. Chin was aware of based on information
available in public (as contained in the prospectus of Hung Fung
dated 13 May 2002), Hung Fung had entered into a restructuring
proposal which involved a compromise agreement with a group of
banks (the “Creditors”) to discharge all claims and monies owed
by Hung Fung to the Creditors which was completed in or around
May 2002. In October 1997, Mr. Chin was appointed as an executive
director of Mansion Holdings Limited (now known as Digital Domain
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 547) ("Mansion”), a company
incorporated in Bermuda and was then principally engaged in the
business of fire safety, for the purpose of leading the restructuring
proposal which involved a compromise agreement with Mansion
group’s creditors, being all banks for the release and settlement of
Mansion’s outstanding bank loans. The restructuring proposal was
completed in 1998 and Mr. Chin resigned thereafter. Mr. Chin is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. WANG Anyuan, aged 44, joined the Group and was appointed
as an executive Director on 25 September 2015. Mr. Wang obtained
a bachelor degree in accounting from Shanghai Maritime University
in 1994. Mr. Wang worked at China Merchants Group Limited and
its main financial enterprises from 1994 to 2008. Mr. Wang served
as an executive director and head of china operation at BOCOM
International Holdings Company Limited and CITIC Securities
International Company Limited from 2008 to 2013. Mr. Wang
has extensive experience and capability in the areas of business
operation management, risk control, investment and financing.
Mr. Wang is currently licensed with the Securities and Futures
Commission to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities) and type 2
(dealing in future contracts) regulated activities and served as an
operation director of Orient Finance Holding (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr.
Wang is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company

Mr. WANG Ronggian, aged 35, joined the Group on 1 April 2016 as
a general manager and was appointed as an executive Director on 8
June 2016. Mr. Wang held a Master degree in corporate and financial
laws from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wang have extensive
experience in the areas of project management, corporate finance,
commercial trade, and legal practice in PRC.

Mr. WU Zhongxin, aged 51, joined Jiangsu Kedi in July 2006 and
was appointed as an executive Director on 22 November 2010. Mr.
Wu is responsible for overseeing the management and operation of
Jiangsu Kedi. After earned his Master degree from the Institute of
Virology Chinese Academy of Science, he worked in the agricultural
related education sectors and directed a series of research in
tobacco for almost 10 years in Northeast Agricultural University
and Henan Tobacco Research Institute respectively. During his
time with these two academies, he had successfully completed a
project awarded with the second prize in technology development
in Henan Province and has over 20 thesis published. Mr. Wu had
extensive experiences in the area of research and development and
promotion, sales and market management.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Professor LIU Guoshun, aged 61, joined the Group and was
appointed as a non-executive Director on 22 November 2010.
Professor Liu is the Dean of the school in tobacco science and a
tutor of the doctoral program students at the Henan Agricultural
University. Professor Liu is a supervisor in national tobacco
cultivation, physiology and biochemistry research centre and regard
as one of the leading expert in the PRC tobacco agricultural industry.
Professor Liu currently serves as the manager of the major projects
from the State Tobacco Monopoly Administration.
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Biographical Details of Directors == EFE 115

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. SOUSA Richard Alvaro, aged 55, joined the Group and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30 January
2001. Mr. Sousa was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of Hong Kong in 1996 and has been practicing as a solicitor in Hong
Kong and is a partner in Messrs. Chan, Lau and Wai. He is also
the chairman of remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee and audit committee of the Company.

Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua, aged 44, joined the Group and was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
on 1 December 2007. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has extensive
experience in the fields of auditing, accounting and finance. Mr. Lee
currently serves as an executive director of Telefield International
(Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 1143) which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, an independent non-executive director
of Hao Tian Development Group Limited (Stock Code: 474) and Jin
Bao Bao Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1239), which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange; and China Fortune Investments
(Holding) Limited (Stock Code: 8116) and Focus Media Network
Limited (Stock Code: 8112), which are listed on the GEM Board of the
Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of
China Minsheng Drawin Technology Group Limited (Stock Code: 726)
from December 2013 to February 2015. He is the chairman of the
audit committee and a member of the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. ZHAO Zhizheng, aged 63, joined the Group and was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 26 July
2012. Mr. Zhao is qualified by the State Tobacco Monopoly Bureau (9
KEEHE F) of the PRC as a Senior Economist. Moreover, Mr. Zhao
was awarded as one of the Best Chinese Entrepreneurs by the China
Enterprise Confederation/China Enterprise Directors Association
in 2004. Mr. Zhao completed the Business Administration Master
Program Studies Course (L7 &I (MBA) 18 +:RF2FHE IT) organised
by the Graduate School of the Renmin University of China in 2000.
Mr. Zhao was awarded the Labour Award (i —445E)#%) by the All
China Federation of Trade Unions in year 1997.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries and associates are set out in
notes 47 and 21 to the financial statements, respectively. During the
year ended 31 March 2016, the Board decided to commence the car
beauty business and the money lending business. Other than this
development, there were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2016 and the
Group’s financial position at the date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 50 to 159.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2016.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 160 of the annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING OF SHARES

Details of the intended uses and utilised amount are set out on page
12 of this report.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the year, the Company issued HK$130 million convertible
bonds. The convertible bonds can be converted into 2,600,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company any time on or before 5 November
2018 at a fixed conversion price of HK$0.05 subject to certain
anti-dilutive adjustments at the discretion of the holders that are
independent third parties. The net proceeds from issuing the
convertible bonds of HK$123 million are to be used for repayment
of borrowings. If all of the convertible bonds outstanding as at end
of the year were converted into ordinary shares of the Company at
the conversion price of HK$0.05, 2,600,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company would be issued. Please also refer to note 35 to the
financial statements for details.

From the financial year end date to the date of approving the report
by Directors, certain conversion notices have been received from the
bondholders requesting conversion. The convertible bonds with the
principal amount of HK$9,000,000 and the outstanding interests of
HK$300,000 have been converted into 185,996,704 ordinary shares
of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of
the Company or the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF SHARES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2016,
as required in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda (as
amended).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation for the year ended
31 March 2016.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of review of the Group’s business and particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year as well as indication of likely future development in the
business of the Group are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 5 to 7 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 8 to 17 of this report.
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Report of the Directors EE= &

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have been
addressed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report. In addition, various financial risks have been
disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements.

An analysis using financial key performance
indicators

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the
business of the Group are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and the consolidated financial statements
in this report.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment
from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to identify
and manage environmental impacts attributable to its operational
activities in order to minimise these impacts if possible. The Group
aims to promote efficient use of resources and adopting green
technologies for emission reduction. For instance, the Group seeks
to upgrade equipment such as lighting and air-conditioning systems
in order to increase overall operating efficiency. To identify energy
efficiency opportunities, the Group measures and records the energy
consumption intensity from time to time.

Relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated and
regularly review the employment policies on remuneration and
other benefits. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
customers and suppliers. The Group maintains close contacts with
the customers and has regular review of requirements of customers
and complaints. The Group will conduct review on the suppliers’
performance on regular basis.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and risks of non-compliance with such requirements.
The Group has on-going review the new enacted laws and
regulations affecting the operations of the Group. The Group is not
aware of any material non-compliance with the laws and regulations
that have significant impact on the business of the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 47.1% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 14.5%. Purchases
from the Group'’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 5% of
the total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Jinggquan Yingzi (Chairman)
Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard
Mr. Stephen William Frostick (retired on 14 September 2015)

Mr. Wang Anyuan (appointed on 25 September 2015)
Mr. Wang Ronggian (appointed on 8 June 2016)
Mr. Wu Zhongxin (resigned on 8 June 2016)

Non-executive Director
Prof. Liu Guoshun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua
Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro
Mr. Zhao Zhizheng

In accordance with Bye-law no. 87 of the Bye-law of the Company
and Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”), one-
third of the Directors will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (the “"AGM").

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 18 to 20 of
this report.

24 Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2016

TEFFRHER

REBFE  AEEZAKREFHEERAEAFEH
BRE2471%  MERJRER AT HERG
REZHERMEZ14.5% - REAEBERAHIER
ZRBEHAFERBAE DN

ERNHEHEABBEATHEFMBR(HERMRA
HABIES 2 AR AR ER A RERRES
FHE T E SR

2
RENRBEAREAS  FARZESMT -

BITES
FREER L (/)
BT AE
Stephen William Frostick %t 4= (A =
+IMEEMT)
TR =%—
FREEE(RZT—
RPLEE(RZT—

FHITES
2B B

BYFHTES
FRESLE
B
AL

—AFNA

EFENAZ+THRAEERE)
NEANANBEZE)
NENANBEHE)

RIBAR R B 2 ER2 AR 8757 Nt 2 P Bl AR 8
ETRRIT IR EmRR DR +5 */\2—
EEAREEER  RUAERIBEEREEAR
BRBERE([BERAFAG]) LERBE -

EEEE
HE 2 BEBERNARE F182208 -



Report of the Directors EE= &

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Jingquan Yingzi, Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard and Mr. Wang
Anyuan have entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of two years commenced from 1 January 2015, 15 August 2014
and 25 September 2015, respectively. The service contracts may be
terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ written
notice. Both of the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors have been appointed for a term of two years.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for the re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a services contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein under note 45 to the financial statements,
no director nor a connected entity of a director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any of the
Company's subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Salary package for employees are structured by reference to
market conditions, staff's experience and individual performance.
Other benefits offered by the Group included medical insurance,
mandatory provident fund scheme, training subsidies, share option
scheme and discretionary bonus.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
and decided by the Board, with reference to the market rates,
commitment, contribution and their duties, and responsibilities with
the Group. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in details in
note 11 to the financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
the Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set
out in note 37 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2016, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the ordinary share
of HK$0.0004 each in the share capital of the Company (“Shares”),
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Future Ordinance (the “SFQ")), as recorded in the register which is
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
SFO or the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares

Name of Directors

EEHR SO RESRME

Capacity and nature of interests

EERTBITHASRERS - 1R
AR R s AR

RZF-—RFZA=1—H EEFRAQFE
ZITRABEARRR MEEBEE (EELESF R
HIERGI (&5 RAE GG ) BXVER) 2 S EE
0.000478 7T 2 AR IR A 2 E At ([Rtn 1)
HEAR REEES - HARREN AR ERER
7 R BRI F 352517 B 2 B refft iz #E st SR
B SREBEES LB RDIREIER EHRAIZAERN
BARNE R s FORB I

RO REERD ZHFR

Number of Shares
and underlying
Shares held
BFERAR
HHERAEAE

Percentage of
shareholding

ERESH

Ms. Jingguan Yingzi Interests held by controlled corporation 27,859,017 25.77%
and beneficial owner (note)
HRBE 2+ REGINAFEERREREGA (Bf3T)
Note: 5T

There are totally 26,728,517 Shares held by Cyberland (China) Limited
("Cyberland”) which is legally and beneficially owned as to 30.37% by Rise
Enterprises Limited (“Rise Enterprises”) and 15% by Wealth Way Investment
Limited (“Wealth Way"), respectively. Rise Enterprises is beneficially owned
as to 62.96% by Eagle Bliss Limited which in turn is wholly owned by Ms.
Jingquan, while Wealth Way is directly and wholly owned by Ms. Jingquan.
Cyberland is in aggregate indirectly 34.12% owned by Ms. Jingquan. For
the purpose of Part XV of SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Ms.
Jingquan is deemed to be interested in the Shares to be held by Cyberland.
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by Directors.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ interests and short positions in Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures” and “Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the
year was rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS FERRRBRORIEBRGD 2EZR
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND KA

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2016, so far as was known to the Directors, the RZZE—XNF=A=1+—H MBS UTA
following persons (not being Directors or chief executives of the  +(WIERATESZHFEITHA L )RIXD S IEH
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions R EE S WIR ABEERIEZSF LEBAEEHE
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed ~ XVE&E2R3HE 2 HEABMANTHRE - RiLiE
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part AR FTIREE S RS KHIEI[6EREFEY
XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the — Z MR ERSRAR o

Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares and underlying BREREBERGD TR
Shares

Percentage of
Number of issued share

Name of Number of underlying capital of
Shareholders Capacity Shares held Shares held the Company
AR S ET
BRRER BERGHEE HEHEHBARGHE &Nl
Cyberland (China) Limited Beneficial owner 26,728,517 - 24.72%
(notes (a) and (b))
RBhh (R B AR A A EmEA A (FF5E(@) (b))
Stepwise International Interest of a controlled 26,728,517 - 24.72%
Holdings Limited corporation (notes (a) and (b))
=S ERIER AR AT R AT 2 (FF5E(@) R (b))
Yiu Kwok Ming Tommy Beneficial owner - 500,000,000 462.43%
(note (c)
o 4Bk EnEEA (MF7E(C)
Lee Yuk Lun Beneficial owner - 400,000,000 369.95%
(note (c)
AR EmfEA (M%)
Lam Kai Tai Beneficial owner - 200,000,000 184.97%
(note (c)
WUNEIES BB A (M%)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS FTERRRBROREBERGD 2ERZR
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND R ()
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying RO REERD ZFR (&)

Shares (Continued)

Percentage of
Number of issued share

Name of Number of underlying capital of
Shareholders Capacity Shares held Shares held the Company
AATE BT
BRREBE 514 BERAHE HEHBERGEE AT DL
Lau Kevin Beneficial owner - 200,000,000 184.97%

(note (c))

2E 58 EmEEA (FF3E))
Ng Kwok Wing Beneficial owner - 200,000,000 184.97%

(note (¢)

REHEE EmEA A (FfFEE())
Kitchell Osman Bin Beneficial owner - 180,000,000 166.48%

(note (c))

Kitchell Osman Bin BiEA A (FF5E())
Wong Ying Seung Asiong Beneficial owner - 180,000,000 166.48%

(note (c))

FimiE EmEEA (FF3E())
Chan Chak Kai Kenneth Beneficial owner - 160,000,000 147 .98%

(note (¢)

PRIEEE EnEEA (FfF5E())
Chow Kam Wah Beneficial owner - 160,000,000 147 .98%

(note (c))

EfES EnlEFA (MF7E(0)
Ip PO Ki Beneficial owner = 160,000,000 147.98%

(note (c))

2 EmEEA (FF3E())
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Long positions in the Shares and underlying

Shares (Continued)

Name of
Shareholders

BRREME

Capacity

51

ERRFRPOBG RAARER G 2 Em Rk

RE(B)

B3 RARBARR 47 2 7 = ()

Percentage of

Number of issued share
underlying capital of
Shares held the Company
ARARE BT
REBDL

Number of
Shares held

FEROBE HEHEBEROHE

Kwong Kai Sing Benny Beneficial owner - 160,000,000 147.98%
(note (c)
BRI BEmEEA (M%)
Lee Ying Ki Beneficial owner - 100,000,000 92.49%
(note (c)
ES 2! E=EAA (M45E(C))
Notes: Fff5E

Bt B R EERERER ARG ERERE

(a) Cyberland is legally and beneficially owned as to 54.63% by Stepwise (@)
B54.63% °

International Holding Limited.

(b) The interests refer to the same parcel of underlying Shares. () W e R —HEAERAAR D

(© These shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise of the (0 ZER AR RIEAT 2 AR AR E A FTH HRAR
conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds issued by the TR 3 R 31T ©
Company.

Save as disclosed above, no other person had any interests or ~ Br EXFTREESD - WEEM A TRAR TR
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company MBI P A SLE N A R AR IR RE 25 K B 150
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336  E336IFFE 2 &L MASEAEM MG AR
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Bl M3 PT 2 R SOA R -

Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the
Shareholders and it became effective on 2 February 2009 and
remains in force for a period of 10 years from that date. A summary
of the principal terms of the Scheme is set out as follows:

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
grant share options of the Company (the “Options”) under the
Scheme to the eligible participants (defined in paragraph (b)
below) for their contribution to the growth of the Company or
any subsidiaries of the Company and to provide the Company
with more flexible means to reward, remunerate, compensate
and/or provide benefit to the eligible participants.

For the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations, eligible participants of the Scheme
include any employee, director, supplier of goods or
services, customer, agent, adviser, consultant, strategist,
contractor, sub-contractor, expert or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any
valuable services to the Company and any of its subsidiaries,
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries or holder of any
securities issued by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Eligible Participants

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at their discretion,
invite any directors and employees of the Group and
any suppliers, customers, agents, advisors, consultants,
strategists, contractors, sub-contractors, expert or entity
that provides research, development or other technological
support or any valuable services to the Group, shareholders
and any securities holders of the Group (the “Participants”) to
participate in the Scheme.

fB I AEsTEl

WERE R —EBRRE B (5 8)) - SBE =T
TNF— B~ BREMIISHZ B HeE R
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(a)

(b)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

32

Total number of shares of the Company
available for issue under the Scheme

The maximum number of the Shares in respect of which
Options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of approval of the Scheme. The Board shall not grant
any options which would result in the maximum aggregate
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding Options granted but yet to be exercised under
the Scheme which provide for the grant of Options to acquire
or subscribe for shares exceeding, in aggregate, 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time. The
mandate of the Scheme was refreshed by the approval of
Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 24 September 2015 (“AGM 2015"). As at the date of
this report, the number of shares available for issue under
the Scheme was 10,812,347 Shares, after the adjustment in
respect of the share consolidation taken effect on 15 October
2015.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The maximum number of Shares, both issued and to be
issued, upon exercise of the Options granted under the
Scheme to each Participant in any 12 months period up to
the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company on date of grant unless it is approved
by Shareholders in a general meeting of the Company
with such Participant and his associates abstaining from
voting. Any Option granted to a substantial Shareholder or
an independent non-executive Director or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the issued share capital of the
Company and with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5
million, in any 12-month period, are subject to Shareholders'
approval in the general meeting of the Company.

Term of exercise of the Options

The period within which the Options must be exercised will
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. Options
granted may be exercised in whole or in part in the manner
provided in the Scheme by a grantee giving notice in writing
to the Company at any time during a period not to exceed 10
years from the date of grant.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2016
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(f) Payment on acceptance of an Option offer

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable by the
Participants upon acceptance of the grant of Options.

(g) Basis on determining of the subscription

price

The subscription price per Share under the Scheme is a price
determined by the Board and notified to each Participant
and shall not be less than the greatest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheet issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a Share on the date of grant.

(h) Remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme will remind valid until 1 February 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, no options under the Scheme
have been granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note 45 to
the financial statements.

There were no transactions required to be disclosed as non-exempt
connected transactions or non-exempt continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules during the
year. The Company has complied with the disclosure reqguirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events of the Group after the reporting period
are set out in note 48 to the financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The information on the
principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is
set out on pages 35 to 45 of this report.

COMPETING INTEREST

As at 31 March 2016, as far as the Directors are aware of, none of
the Directors has an interest in a business that competed or may
compete with the business of the Group.

AUDITORS

During the year, Barker Tilly Hong Kong Limited resigned as auditors
of the Company and Elite Partners CPA Limited were appointed by
the Directors to fill the casual vacancy so arising. There have been
no other changes of auditors in the past three years. A resolution for
the reappointment of Elite Partners CPA Limited as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Jingquan Yingzi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2016
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Board and the management of the Company are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
process. The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective management,
a healthy corporate culture, successful business growth and
enhancing shareholders’ value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provision(s)”) as set
out in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The principles adopted by the Company emphasize a quality
board, sound internal controls and transparency and accountability
to Shareholders. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has
complied with the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2016, save
and except for the following:

1. Code Provision E.1.2 specifies that the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting. Ms. Jingquan
Yingzi, the chairman of the Board was heavily involved in
the business operations of the Group. Despite her utmost
intention to be present at the AGM 2015, Ms. Jingquan was
unable to attend the AGM 2015 due to other urgent business
commitments of the Group. Mr. Chin Wai Keung Richard, an
executive Director, has taken the chair; and

2. Code Provision A.1.3 of requires of at least 14 days' notice
should be given to all directors for regular board meetings.
For all other board meetings, reasonable notice should
be given. Due to the practical reasons, 14 days' advanced
notifications have not been given to all meetings of the Board.
Reasons have been given in the notifications in respect of
those meetings of the Board where it is not practical to give
14 days’ advanced notification. The Board will use its best
endeavour to give 14 days' advanced notifications of Board
meeting to the extent practicable.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Board consisted of eight
directors, including four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board has a balance of skill and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company, and demonstrates a
proper diversity with its directors coming from different backgrounds,
nationality, professional and industries. The Director’s biographical
information is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors” of this report. There is no financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationships among the Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer are separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. As at 31 March 2016, the Chairman is Ms. Jingguan
Yingzi and the Company has no appointment for the position of chief
executive officer. The Chairman is responsible for overseeing all
Board functions, while the role of chief executive officer is performed
collectively by executive Directors, excluding Ms. Jingguan Yingzi, to
oversee the day-to-day operations of the Group and implementing
the strategies and policies approved by the Board.

The Board considers that under the current arrangement, the
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operations of the
Board, which comprises experienced and high caliber individuals
who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting operations of the
Group. The Board will review the effectiveness of this arrangement
from time to time and will consider appointing chief executive officer
of the Company when it thinks appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, all non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The
non-executive Director is appointed and subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Bye-law of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Three independent non-executive Directors are persons of high
caliber, with appropriate academic and professional qualifications in
the field of accounting or law industry. The Company has received
from each of independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers that
these directors to be independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro (“Mr. Sousa”) has been servicing more
than 9 years in the Company, so his appointment was approved by
Shareholders with an ordinary resolution in the AGM. Taking into
consideration of his independent scope of work in the past years,
the Directors consider Mr. Sousa to be independent under the GEM
Listing Rules and Mr. Sousa’s continued tenure brings considerable
contribution to the Group and the Board has benefited greatly from
the presence of Mr. Sousa who has over time gained valuable insight
into the Group.

LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR THE DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for appropriate Directors and Officers
liability insurance coverage to indemnify the Directors and Officers
for their liabilities in respect of legal action against them.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
company’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for
the day to day management of the Company which is delegated to
the Chairman and the management.

All Directors have full access to all the information of the Company
as well as the services and advice from the company secretary of
the Company (the “"Company Secretary”) and management. The
Directors may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision for all major issues relating
to policy matters, internal control, strategies, budgets, risk
management, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational issues of
the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management are delegated to the management.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in persons or through other electronic
means of communication to review and determine the overall
strategic direction and objectives and approve quarterly, interim
and annual results, and other significant matters. Due notices of the
meetings are given to all Directors to attend and include matters for
discussion. Details of the attendance of each member of the Board
at the meetings of the Board, its respective committees and the
general meetings during the year ended 31 March 2016 are set out as
follows:

Type of Meeting Board
-
Attended/
eligible to
Name of Directors attend
BHiE/
BERILRE
Executive Directors HTEE
Ms. JINGQUAN Yingzi (Chairman) AIBRUTL(ZE) 13/23
Mr. CHIN Wai Keung Richard BRBEE 2/23
Mr. Stephen William FROSTICK Stephen William FROSTICK 4 10/11
(retired on 14 September 2015) (AZZ-RENATHRERA)
Mr. WANG Anyuan TRnrsE 1M
(appointed on 25 September 2015) (R=B-RENA=THA
EZf)
Mr. WU Zhongxin RbLEE 023
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Professor LIU Guoshun 2|E R 0/23
Independent Non-Executive Directors By #{TES
Mr. SOUSA Richard Alvaro it 0/23
Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua FRERE 14/23
Mr. Zhao Zhizheng HEEEE 0/23

ESvERbERRE

EEETHRTERSGEBEMEFRBARAZE
& WEMNEBTERRE A MBEULE]S
B FHRFEREREEEAMBEREE - @22
TABANEFETHHFERLE2BES  HHH
BERTHRIEE -EFEENERBE_ZT—X
FZA=+T—HUIEFEAREEEEH  HZBZ
BERBERAGZHFEXRFEHIINT

Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Commit  Committee ~ Committee Meeting
BRZES FMESE REZEE BRAE
Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/
eligible to eligible to eligible to eligible to
attend attend attend attend
BHE/ BiHE/ BHE/ BHE/
BERLE BERLE BERLE BERLE
NANER N/ANE B 7 0/4
N/ARGE A N/ANE N/ATE 4/4
NATEA NATER N/ATREH 212
NATEF NATEF N/ATER 212
N/ARE A N/ARE N/ATE 0/4
NANER NATER N/ARE 0/4
5/5 33 A 0/4

5/5 33 A 0/4

0/5 073 01 074

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of executive Directors during the Year.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection by the Directors.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Directors are aware of their individuals and collective
responsibilities to the Shareholders for the success and wellbeing of
the Company. To strengthen the effectiveness of the management,
the Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee to oversee corresponding aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company have defined written
terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company had established the Audit Committee on 20 March
2001. In order to comply with the revised CG Code, the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee was revised on 8 January
2016. The formation of the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference is in compliance with Rules 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among other
things (a) to review the Group’s annual report, interim report and
quarterly reports; (b) to discuss and review with the auditors of the
Company on the scope and findings of the audit; and (c) to supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control procedures and
overall risk management of the Group.

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Sousa
Richard Alvaro, Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua and Mr. Zhao Zhizheng. All
of them are independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of
the Audit Committee is Mr. Lee Chi Hwa Joshua, who has extensive
accounting and related financial reporting expertise. The Group's
unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited annual results
and consolidated financial statements during the year ended 31
March 2016 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which
is of opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosure have been made.

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the Year. Details
of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings as prescribed
aforesaid.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
GEM Listing Rules, and it is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure in relation
to remuneration of the Directors and senior management. It
schedules to meet at least once a year to review and determine
the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management and to make recommendation to the Board of
the remuneration of non-executive Director. In determining and
approving the remuneration of Directors and senior management,
the Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance and
profitability of the Company and with reference to the written term
of reference pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in the requirements under rules 5.34 and 5.35 to the GEM Listing
Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, all of
which are independent non-executive Directors.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee convened three
meetings to review the remuneration policy, terms of services of the
executive Directors and remuneration of senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company on 29
March 2012 with written terms of reference in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the GEM Listing Rules. Ms. Jingquan Yingzi
was appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and
other members include Mr. Sousa Richard Alvaro, Mr. Lee Chi Hwa
Joshua and Mr. Zhao Zhizheng. The Nomination Committee has the
authority and duties as set out in the Nomination Committee terms
of reference.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to
review the current policies.

40 Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2016

FNEES
ARAREKIHFMEES - WEIREAIZER ETHR
BIERE T AREmMBESRE  E8EnAR
AEMESRAREEBY M B M RBRES
SRUER - L2 8F & RTINS MRF
LRETHTEELSREIERB ZHMWAES - LARMA
EECEHIENTES IS c CETRIVEES
SREEEBZHHN  FHEEeBEES AR
HE  BEMEHEN  AARBEAARZEF)
BENE - WIRIRAIZER ETRAIZE5.34 % 5.35154
EFTEZ CXE ST 2EEEBIRGE -

FINEZEem =2 EAEK  REHRBIIENTT
E R

RAFE - HMEZESC ARG - AasF
MEER MTEFZREEARSRERE 2 H
B -

REEES
AARCRZE——F=A=-+tABEKIIEZES
g - WEIREAIZER EWRRAE BIEH T E M
REE HREBERAZTEZTAREZESER
B B BRSO E C EERENBEEIEL
EoRBLZECHEREZECHESEE 2B
BEREMF -

RAFE  REZBERIT - REHMFABRITR
pos



Corporate Governance Report {583

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of GEM Listing Rules, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company Secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and
development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices
and other regulatory regime to the Directors with written materials,
on the professional knowledge and latest development of regulatory
requirements related to director’s duties and responsibilities. Up to
the date of this report, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by reading in-house training handbook,
relevant materials or attending training seminar on the topics related
to corporate governance as follows:

Name of Directors

HEEXRRE

RIFAIZFR EM B A2 TR AR - 268
EERSEBEZELERNBREEMNRE ZHH
RAREE - W RERESHEAESSERANER
HEER - ARMETRAEFER TR -
EERFRUAREMEENE 2 & EHNER -
ViR AHERRGLBE 2 EXNBLEERTE
RMERZEEER - BEARESHAY - 2RES
EEBRMEARIEIFM - HEEN KL FEARE
XERTREZEIIBEM2ESERE LR - 15
s

Executive Directors HITES
Ms. JINGQUAN Yingzi (Chairman) HRER LT (EE)
Mr. CHIN Wai Keung Richard EEETAE

Mr. Stephen William FROSTICK
(retired on 14 September 2015)

Stephen William FROSTICK St 4=
(R=—Z—RFNA+IA

RE)
Mr. WANG Anyuan FRTiE
(appointed on 25 September 2015) (R=—Z—RFNA
“+HBEEZT)
Mr. WANG Ronggian THERE
(appointed on 8 June 2016) (R=ZE—XRFANAR
EZRE)
Mr. WU Zhongxin RHLEE
(resigned on 8 June 2016) (RZZ—ARF,ANAR
BHE)
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Professor LIU Guoshun 215 | EZ %
Independent Non-Executive BIUkHITES
Directors
Mr. SOUSA Richard Alvaro BRENSTE
Mr. LEE Chi Hwa Joshua FERESE
Mr. Zhao Zhizheng HEELE

Reading materials/ Attending
In house briefing Seminars
BIEEN, IR H B
v/ v/
v —
v —
v —
v —
v —
v —
v v
v v
v —

All Directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to participating any
suitable training or reading relevant materials in order to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Company continued to adopt a code of conduct
regarding Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors for the Year.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Group. The
internal control system is to safeguard the assets of the Group and
the shareholders’ investment and to ensure the reliability of financial
reporting as well as compliance with the relevant requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Board
had reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control of
the Group, which covered all material aspects including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
of the Group. The Board also considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experiences of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training program and budget.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the
timely publication of the financial statements of the Group. The
Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about

their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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DISCLOSURE OF THE CHANGES IN THE
INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, changes in
the information of the Directors required to be disclosed in this
report. On 4 November 2015, Mr. Lee has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director and the company secretary
of Telefield International (Holdings) Limited which are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the remuneration paid and
payable to the auditors, in respect of the audit services to the Group
were approximately HK$500,000 (2015: HK$750,000).

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and time
manner by the Board is to facilitate the shareholders as well as the
investors to have better understanding in relation to the business
performance, operations and strategies of the Group. Through our
website which allows the Company’s potential and existing investors
as well as the public to assess and acquire the up-to-date company
and financial information.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the Shareholders, the
investors and the public are as follows:

- Delivery of the annual, interim and quarterly reports; and

- Publication of announcements on the annual, interim and
quarterly results on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company’s website, and issue of other announcements
and notices, and shareholders’ circulars in accordance with
the continuing disclosure obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LI Kwok Fat (“Mr. Li") has been appointed as the Company
Secretary on 5 October 2012. He is the fellow member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Li obtained a master degree
of finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. During the
Year, Mr. Li has undertaken over 15 hours of professional training
pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules to update his skills
and knowledge.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are properly followed and for facilitating communications
among Directors as well as with Shareholders and management.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary
general meetings (the "EGM") of the Company shall be convened
on the requisition of any one or more shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. Such shareholders shall have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and the EGM shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s), as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Making Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send written enquiries or requests,
either by post, by facsimiles or by email, together with his/her
contact details, such as postal address, email or fax, addressing to
the Board at the following address or facsimile number or via email:

Rooms 2037-40, 20/F., Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3583-5683

Email: info@code-hk.com

All enquiries shall first be collected by the Company Secretary who
shall report to the executive Directors periodically. The executive
Directors shall review the enquiries and collect answers from
relevant department. The executive Directors will reply the enquiries
directly or authorise the Company Secretary to reply enquiries in
writing.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition or enquiry to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and identification
in order to give effect thereto. Shareholder original duly signed
written requisition or enquiry is disclosed as required by law.

Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhance investor relations. It is committed to a policy
of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its
shareholders and investment public. The Company updates its
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports. The
corporate website of the Company (http://www.code-hk.com) has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and the
shareholders. During the review period, there had been no significant
change in the Company's constitutional documents.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B MR

To the shareholders of Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 50 to 159,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Company
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

Except for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
as explained below, we conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement. Because of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, however, we were not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1.  Fair value of corporate guarantee

As mentioned in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company alleged that Jiangsu Kedi Modern
Agriculture Company Limited (“Jiangsu Kedi"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, had been named as defendant
in three legal cases relating to the provision of corporate
guarantee to banks for liabilities of third parties (“Borrowers”)
to a total extent of RMB58,000,000 (“Corporate Guarantee”).

In accordance with HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” issued by the HKICPA, the
amounts of Corporate Guarantee should be accounted for its
fair value at initial recognition and subsequently, measured
at the higher of (i) the amount determined in accordance
with HKAS 37; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18. The directors have not provided any fair value
of the Corporate Guarantee at its initial recognition and as
at 31 March 2015, which was non-compliance with HKAS
39. Consequently, the comparative figures including the
opening balance for the current year and prior year were also
qualified in respect of the effect for fair value of the Corporate
Guarantee.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

48

Limitation of scope in respect of corporate
guarantee

In the opinion of the directors, the Corporate Guarantee
mentioned above were entered into without the knowledge
and consent of the Company. Due to the consequence of
the Corporate Guarantee and the absence of adequate
information in respect of whether Jiangsu Kedi had entered
into any other corporate guarantee provided to third parties,
we were unable to carry out any alternative audit procedures
to verify the completeness and whether any fair value of the
corporate guarantees should be provided in the consolidated
financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2016 and
2015. Accordingly, we were unable to determine whether any
adjustments are necessary to provide and any contingent
liabilities should be disclosed in the consolidated financial
statement for the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015.

Material uncertainties relating to the going
concern basis

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$233,399,000 for the year ended 31 March 2016 and had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$218,152,000 and
capital deficiency of approximately HK$278,280,000 as at 31
March 2016 respectively. The existence of these material
fundamental uncertainties casts significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the assumption that the Group will continue as a going
concern, the validity of which is dependent on the favourable
outcomes of the steps being taken by the directors as
described in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
However, we were unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence
to assess the validity of the going concern assumption.
Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments would have to be made to reclassify all non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts
and to provide for any further liabilities which may arise. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any of these
adjustments.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

Any adjustment that might have been found to be necessary in
respect of the above matters would have a significant effect on the
Group’s financial position as at 1 April 2014, 31 March 2015 and 31
March 2016 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the
years ended 31 March 2015 and 2016, and the related disclosures in
the respective consolidated financial statements.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, we have not been able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements as to whether they give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2016
and of the Group's financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yip Kai Yin
Practising certificate number: P05131

Hong Kong, 27 June 2016

10th Floor,

8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Cconsolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

m A4S 22
:%/T\I:I (=Nink

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #Z—Z— X F=A=+—HIFE

2016 2015
—E—XRF —T—FHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Lz FEx AT
Continuing operations BEKSEEK
Revenue WA 6 19,451 131,078
Cost of sales and services HE KRS (16,061) (90,672)
Gross profit EF 3,390 40,406
Other income HABYA 7 274 8,928
Distribution costs PaN =D N (9,437) (29,150)
Administrative expenses THER (41,266) (34,203)
Other losses HAb/E18 8 (105,571) (80,439)
Finance costs RBhE A AN 9 (28,019) (25,868)
Impairment losses on other intangible assets Eth £ 2 & E R (B E518 20 - (27,084)
Provision for legal claim ERREERE 33 (55,002) -
Loss before income tax MRPTISEL AT E 1R 10 (235,631) (147,410)
Income tax credit FrigiisE e 13 1,664 5,126
Loss for the year from BEREEK2
continuing operations FEFS (233,967) (142,284)
Discontinued operations BRI REER
Profit for the year from BRI EEB 2
discontinued operations FEHEF 14 - 7,703
Loss for the year FEEE (233,967) (134,587)
Loss attributable to: T ATEGEE :
Oowners of the Company PiN/NEIEZE N (233,399) (133,491)
Non-controlling interests FEIERE (568) (1,090)
(233,967) (134,581)
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
(Restated)
(geE5)
Loss per share attributable to ARATHEE AEML
owners of the Company BRER 15
Basic and Diluted EXREE
— From continuing and —RAEFELZER
discontinued operations BRI EREER (2.20) (1.97)
— From continuing operations —REAFEEEETR (2.20) (2.06)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
e mHlas

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #Z—Z— X F=A=+—HIFE

2016 2015
—EB-RE i
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Loss for the year FEBR (233,967) (134,581)
Other comprehensive income Hitt 2wk
Items that may be reclassified subsequently HiER[peEZ I E
to profit or loss: BmlIHE -
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINETEE 2
foreign operations PE =% 8,825 549
Exchange differences reclassified on HEFRARMEHTDEZ
disposal of subsidiaries PEH Z%E = (3,548)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) FEHM

for the year 2EWE(FAX) 8,825 (2,999)
Total comprehensive expense for the year F£E2EBE XA (225,142) (137,580)
Total comprehensive expense LR AT EEG

attributable to: 2HAXAE

Oowners of the Company KRAREEA (224,677) (136,469)

Non-controlling interests FEIE R i A (465) (1,111)

(225,142) (137,580)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R

Asat31March2016 R—ZE—XFE=A=+—H

2016 2015
—E—RF —E—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FBTT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment MNE - HeEE KRG 16 26,702 42,979
Prepaid land lease payments TEfS T EFRIE 17 9,671 10,440
Goodwill RS 18 873 -
Other intangible assets Himp EE 19 803 138
Investment in an associate —EE R ZIRE 21 = -
Deferred tax assets EEFIBE = 34 4,477 4,037
42,526 57,594
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 78 22 28,653 47,787
Loan receivables FEURE TR 23 4,549 -
Trade receivables FEUAR X 24 90,293 186,685
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables a8 - 12 & M EMEWZIE 25 38,621 41,560
Amount due from a related company eI —FEIREE R B 5RIR 26 2,532 -
Held-to-maturity investment BEZIEKRE 27 5,031 -
Tax recoverable BIE G 41 43
Cash and cash equivalents BeRESZEY 28 64,079 7,983
233,799 284,058
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables JETBR TN 29 53,926 69,558
Other payables and accruals E At T RIE R BT B A 30 55,586 45,968
Amount due to a non-controlling JERTFR Rl — R IR
shareholder of a subsidiary e e 31 726 763
Amount due to a director JEN—RESZHRIAE 31 17 286
Borrowings Be 32 286,694 344,887
Provision B 33 55,002 -
Tax payable FEFTERIE - 27
451,951 461,489
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (218,152) (177,431)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE (175,626) (119,837)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 44 B8 ik R 3=

Asat31March2016 R—ZE—XFE=A=+—H

2016 2015
= i —TRF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B EE FExT FBTT
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIBAEE 34 584 48
Convertible bonds AMRRESH 35 102,070 -
102,654 48
Net liabilities SEFE (278,280) (119,885)
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital R 36 43 37,829
Reserves EE (271,865) (151,721)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 782 B1# B A FE(h iz (271,822) (113,892)
Non-controlling interests IR (6,458) (5,993)
Capital deficiency IR 2 5 Al (278,280) (119,885)

The notes on pages 58 to 159 are an integral part of these financial ~ $58% 1598 2 Mt sH B X S I HRER 2 — 305 o
statements.

The financial statements on pages 50 to 159 were approved and  HF50F2159B 7 I EBRERCHARTEETS N =
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 27  Z—NF/N A - ++ BELERREZEIT - WA

June 2016 and were signed on its behalf. TALTREBESE -
Jingquan Yingzi Wang Anyuan
HRBR T2
Director Director
B E2
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e ER

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #HE—Z—NF=A=+—HIIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

G 2PN 3
Equity
component
of Share Non-
Share Share convertible ~ Merger  Statutory Contributed  option  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium bonds  reserve  reserve  surplus  reserve  reserve losses Total interests equity
TRRES
A RGEE 2ERBs  AHEE ik BABR BRERE EIGE  ZiEE & FEREE  BREE
HK'000. HK'000. HK'000 { HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000. HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
AT AL i AT TAL e Fh TFh AL AL
(note (¢)
(M)
At 1April 2014 R--MEMA-A 2718 1,056,184 - (197) 24,347 - 7915 87603 (1638679 (435,649 (3472 1439,121)
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - - - - (133490 (133491) (1090 (134381)
Other comprehensive income ~ Hft2EkE
- Exchange differences on -BEBERELL
translation of foreign operations EizE - - - - - - - 570 - 570 %) 549
- Exchange differences -HETRAMEHNEL
reclassified on disposal of EfzE
subsidiaries (note 39) (F39) - - - - - - - (3548) - (3,548) - (3549)
Total comprehensive FERENXEE
expense for the year - - - - - - - Q978 (133491 (136,469) (111 (137,580

Conversion of convertble bond RAmaRES
(ote 350 (K35t 06 WS - - - - - - - - R

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HEFRT () - - - - - - - - - - (1,410 (1,410
Share option scheme (note 37) ke SRR
~Lapsed during the year ~EREHR - - - - - - [7915) - 7915 - - -
At 31 March and RZB-1EZA=1-B

1 April 2015 REA-A 3789 1503719 - (197 2.347% - - 84.6605% (1764255 (113892) (.93 (119,88
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - - - - B 2839 (568 (233967)
Other comprehensive income ~ Efb2Ei
- Bxchange differences on -HEENEBEL L

translation of foreign operations EizE - - - - - - - 8722 - 8722 103 8825

Total comprehensive FERENXEAE

expense for the year - - - - - - - 8722 (233399 (u71) (465 (225,142)
Issue of shares ki 500 38 - - - - - - - B4 - 3B
Capitalreduction ek (13200 - - - - B - - - - - -
Share premium reduction HlRRAEE - (1,095,000 - - - 1495000 - - - - - -
Setoff contributed surplus SAEHEHZHER

against accumulated losses - - - - - (15320 - - 153206 - - -
Issue of convertile bonds (note 35(@) - B/7aT MR B % (HizE35() - - 28,14 - - - - - - 2814 - 28,14
At31 March 2016 W-E-A%ZfZ1-H B M0 BuE (9T 2347 - - U3 (SAEF (11322) (6458 (278280)

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * ZERBERREREVBRKARAZEGERE
-HK$271,865,000 (2015: —HK$151,721,000) in the consolidated —271,865,000/% 70 ( ZZF— R 4F : —151,721,000
statement of financial position. IT) °
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 4 &8 81

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #Z—Z— X F=A=+—HIFE

Notes:

@

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of a subsidiary acquired and
the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange
thereof pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 20 March 2001 as
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 26 March 2001.

In accordance with relevant regulations prevailing in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Company's subsidiaries established
and operating in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of their
profit after income tax calculated under the accounting principles
generally applicable to the PRC enterprises to the statutory reserve
until the fund aggregates 50% of their respective registered capital.
The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior years' losses or to
increase capital. However, the balance of the statutory reserve must
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of capital after these usages.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) at the special general meeting of the
Company (the “SGM") held on 21 August 2015, the following steps on
the reorganisation of the share capital of the Company (the “Capital
Reorganisation”) had been taken place and completed on 24 August
2015:

(i) share consolidation whereby every ten shares of nominal
value of HK$0.01 each in the issued and unissued share
capital of the Company were consolidated into one
consolidated share of nominal value of HK$0.10 each;

(if) capital reduction whereby the nominal value of all the issued
consolidated shares was reduced from HK$0.10 each to
HK$0.0001 each by cancelling the paid-up capital to the
extent of HK$0.0999 on each consolidated share;

share sub-division of each of the authorised but unissued
consolidated shares of HK$0.10 each was divided into one
thousand adjusted shares of HK$0.0001 each;

(i)

(iv) the credits arising from the capital reduction and share
premium reduction of approximately HK$43,206,000 and
HK$1,495,000,000 respectively were transferred to the

contributed surplus account of the Company; and

the credit of the contribution surplus account of the
Company was set off against the accumulated losses of the
Company as permitted under the laws of Bermuda and the
bye-laws of the Company.

B3

REE 2 &R ERMEE T AR ZIRAHES
ARRRBBEMRERARRNERAR -_TE—F
ZACTRAZERERABAEEN —TT—
FZA-TAZEAMBTZROBEERERZ
ER e

REBEHEARAMBE([HE ) ZRITHEBRG
ARBRAP B R EE 2 FARIEFERET
B AR EiEEM 2 SR B PSR RE A
ZI0%BNEERE  EERBARERNRES
BEEMERZ50% < AT FER BIEEHAES
RERSIBMNEAR - A - BIFRFEMER X
R ESREARDBRRERZ25% °

REAABABRR(TBRDR_F—AFN\A
T+ —BRT AR RBERERIAE ([R5
ARE ) EBBZRIRESR - U T ARARAE
ATRAEEDIREETEENR-_Z—HFN
RAZ+HBEREX :

0] RRFBBEHETRABITRAPE+
MRS EEC.OVE T Z & ff R — IR
FREE0I0E T Z A Gt EITRD
B

(ii) BEREHEATRA(RERA RN
0.09998 T AR )EITIAHBIR - BHULPT
BEBETA RN ZHERER0.10E
TUHIA ZE 8 A%0.0001# 7T

FREE0I0E T EEBREITA G
B0 4 4 s — T IR B AR {E0.000178 7T
ST

(iif)

P A 118 e 1Lk P £ i 1B P EEE A 2 EE B
73 Rll#43,206,0007% 7T 2 1,495,000,0007%
THBEARRZBARBER &

RIBARELRRARB ZREAA -
RHARRRZ FNBRIR ZERAR I
AREZ RFHEE
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Cconsolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #Z—Z— X F=A=+—HIFE

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit before income tax

REFHRERE
BRPTIS T AT (B518) i A

2016
—E-ARF

HK$'000
FERx

From continuing operations REAFERLEER (235,631) (147,410)
From discontinued operations RE BRI 14 = 7,703
Adjustments for: AT EIEARE
Finance costs BB R 9 28,019 25,868
Interest income FLE A (196) (1,791)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFARZ M (19) (11,055)
Change in fair value of financial assets BARBERTAB®Z
at fair value through profit or loss TRMEELAAEES 8 = 25
Waiver of interest expenses on FRRAIRRESZ
convertible bond FEFE 7 = (6,224)
Depreciation and amortisation Pree R 5,259 10,714
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYE - B R
plant and equipment HBEE 2 W 10 = (194)
Write-off of items of property, WIZE - AR
plant and equipment RABIA B 2 s 10 2,368 1
Write-down of inventories T8 7 M 10 7,359 -
Impairment of items of property, W - R
plant and equipment RABIEE 2RE 10 12,346 1,369
Impairment of other intangible assets HEmERERE 2 RE 10 - 27,084
Impairment of trade receivables FEWBR K 2 R(E 10 93,137 29,554
Impairment of other receivables HAbFEWGRIE 2 B 10 88 1,915
Provision for legal claim ARG 33 55,002 -
Loss on repurchase of debentures FEREIEES 2 EE 8 - 352
Loss on redemption of convertible bond BRI iRES 2 B8 8 = 630
Change in fair value of convertible bond AMRES C AR ERE 8 - 46,594
Operating loss before working LIBESEBAIZ
capital changes K EIa (32,268) (14,865)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERLD,(Em) 11,774 (4,597)
Increase in loan receivables FEUE FRIE AN (4,530) -
Decrease in trade receivables FEUBR TR 3,255 92,490
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, ERFEIE - e REM
deposits and other receivables FEMGRIER A (38 40) 2,848 (58,754)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FERBRFR OB ) /1 0 (15,632) 6,979
Increase in other payables and accruals Eofh e SRIE K FEET & R0 6,362 8,691
Increase in amount due JE U — R R A R FRIBIE AN
from a related company (2,500) -
Decrease in amount due to a non-controlling fE{TF2 7 — 4 FEIE AR AR
shareholder of a subsidiary FRIE R = (89)
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to a e —REZFECRL),
director (720) 286
Cash (used in)/generated from operations & (FTF),FREL 2 S (31,411) 30,141
Interest received BUH B 134 1,791
Interest paid BFE (15,412) (24,050)
Income tax refunded/(paid) BiR (B ETEH 2,015 (2,659)
Net cash flows (used in)/from LeSEE (TR, sz
operating activities ReEREFHE (44,674) 5,223
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &R & HhEa%

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #Z—Z— X F=A=+—HIFE

2016
—E-ARF

Notes HK$'000
B 5 FHET

cash flows from investing activities RETBZHRERE

Purchases of items of property, BEWE  HER

plant and equipment HEIEE (4,514) (704)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - sk

property, plant and equipment HREBEEE ZFBRIE - 301
Acquisition of a business U B —IE %75 38 (1,700) -
Disposal of subsidiaries HETRE 39 - 6,181
Purchase of held-to-maturity investment BERBBRIERE (5,000) -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets  H& £ F&RE 7 RASHIE - 1,871
Decrease in pledged deposits [REE e He - 44,078
Net cash flows (used in)/from REFEH (), ez

investing activities EHERE s (11,214) 51,727

Cash flows from financing activities MELTB2RERE

Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds TR AR (&%~ FT{S208 130,000 -
Expenses on issue of convertible bonds BITAHBRESZHX (6,898) -
Proceeds from issue of shares BTN 2 FR1S5/IE 39,798 -
Expenses on issue of shares BITR D 2 FX (1,197) -
Repayments of debentures EEEEE (27,065) (27,752)
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEHIE 74,398 223,686
Repayments of borrowings BERE (93,265) (248,715)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BMEEBRE (A2

financing activities BEREFH 115,771 (52,781)
Net increase in cash and RERASEEYZ

cash equivalents B HNRER 59,883 4,169
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRe K

beginning of year ReEEY 7,983 2,816
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes,  EX&#)~

net SEFEE (3,787) 998
cash and cash equivalents at FEREER

end of year REEEY 64,079 7,983

Analysis of the balances of cashand HRERBEEZEBEYEER>
cash equivalents il
Bank balances and cash RITER LIRS 64,079 7,983
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Notes to the Financial Statements

EAFE AR MY RE

58

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (the “"Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (“GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of business is
Rooms 2037-40, 20th Floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out
in note 47 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (which includes all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, these
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) and by Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention except for certain
financial instruments measured at fair values as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.
These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2016. A subsidiary is
an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee,

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements,
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

2.

BREHBE )
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FTAREERBENATERIRE S
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W A AEEREZER IEHIE -

AR B ERKEEERRIRETT
2R ERERBELERN R R - R
AEARBEEREN TR HEEE
hEg AEBEeZEMARBESTE
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2.

60

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements
of control described in the accounting policy for
subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted
for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group in light of the fact that:

(i) The Group incurred a loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$233,399,000 (2015:
HK$133,491,000) for the year ended 31
March 2016 and, as of that date, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$218,152,000 (2015: HK$177,431,000)
and a capital deficiency of approximately
HK$278,280,000 (2015: HK$119,885,000);

(if) Included in current liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements are secured bank loans
of approximately HK$74,699,000 (2015:
HK$48,101,000) which have expired but are in
the process of renewal; and

(iif) Included in current liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements are unsecured loans from
third parties of approximately HK$83,100,000
(2015: HK$111,997,000) which are scheduled
for repayment within one year.

2.

BAE IR

2.1

MRBE % ()

BEEEEE
REGAMBHRRE  ARAES
((EE)EHTISBREEEA
£E2 AR ABHESRRREA :

(i) REBREE-ZT—RNE=
A=Z+—BLEEELEARA
AMEAEBHEEEEY
233,399,000t (=T — 1
£ 1 133,491,000 7T ) *© &
HE%ZB  AEBEHERD
B FFE#9218,152,0007 7T
(Z=—HRF : 177,431,000
BT ) kB R E A A
278,280,000 L (= —H
£ 119,885,000/ 7T)

(il HEMBRERZABDAGE
HROBHEESRD 2 HEN
R 1T & 5K 4974,699,000 % 7T
—ZT— 1 : 48,101,000/
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iy HEUBBRERZADEER
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2.

62

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

The Directors reviewed the Group's financial and
liquidity position, and have taken the following actions
to mitigate the liquidity issues faced by the Group:

@)

A director of the Company has confirmed that
she will provide continuous financial support
to the Company for a period of twelve months
from the date of approval of these financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2016
by the Directors;

After the reporting period, the Company
entered into a placing agreement with a
placing agent, pursuant to which the placing
agent agreed amongst other things to procure
not less than six placees, or failing which itself
as principal on a fully underwritten basis, to
subscribe for HK$120 million of the convertible
bonds by one or more tranches of not less
than HK$1 million each. The net proceeds from
issue of convertible bonds are mainly to be
used for settlement of the borrowings;

Possible fund raising activities including, but
not limited to, further placing, rights issues or
open offer are to be attempted;

The Group is in negotiation with financial
institutions for loan restructuring and
extensions of existing borrowings upon due
dates and applying for future credit facilities,
and

The management plans to improve the Group’s
financial performance by taking steps to reduce
discretionary expenses and administrative
costs and exploring new business to enhance
the source of income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5#k R M1zt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

In light of the measures and arrangements as
described above, the Directors consider the Group
and the Company will have sufficient working capital
to meet their financial obligations as they fall due for
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to
restate the values of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial
Statements.

Application of new and revised
standards

The Group has adopted the following revised
standards for the first time for the current year's
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions
Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle

The application of the above new or revised HKFRSS
in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5#k R Mzt

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, which have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments?

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts’

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers?

HKFRS 16 Leases?

Amendments to Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle?
HKFRSS

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative’
HKAS 1

Amendments to Accounting for Acquisition of Interest
HKFRS 11 in Joint Operations

Amendments to Investment Entities: Applying
HKFRS 10, HKFRS12 the Consolidation Exception?
and HKAS 28

Amendments to Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation

Amendments to Agriculture: Bearer Plants’
HKAS 16 and HKAS 41

Amendments to Equity Method in Separate Financial
HKAS 27 Statements!

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2016

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but is

available for adoption

The Directors anticipate that the application of the
above new or revised HKFRSs have been issued but
are not yet effective will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in

host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or

loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2.

66

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment 10ss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not

reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating

unit retained.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the
equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but not control or

joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar

accounting policies that may exist.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associates are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the

Group's investments in associates.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate,
the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from

disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When the investment in an associate is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and

Discontinued Operations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial
instruments and equity investments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5#k R Mzt

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EBEARSTTHE®E)
(Continued)
2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FEESTBEME#R)

policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of subsidiary, other
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment,
prepaid land lease payments under operating leases,
non-current portion of deposits and investments in
subsidiaries and associates are subject to impairment

testing.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite
useful life or those not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually, irrespective of
whether there is any indication that they are impaired.
All other assets are tested for impairment whenever
there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount

may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and
value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessment of time value of money and the

risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, when
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently. As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at the

cash-generating unit (“CGU(s)") level.
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2.

72

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
Goodwill, in particular, is allocated to those CGUs that
are expected to benefit from synergies of the related
business combination and represent the lowest level
within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purpose.

Impairment losses recognised for a CGU, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially
to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining
impairment loss is charged pro-rata to the other assets
in the CGU, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less
cost to sell, or value-in-use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods. In respect of other assets,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person, or a close member of
that person'’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(if) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent; or

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2016
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5#k R M1zt

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

0]

(if)

(i)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.

74

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under Over the
finance leases lease terms
Buildings 3% t010%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter
of the lease

terms or 10%

Plant and machinery 10% to 20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2016

2.

B

2.4

%Aﬁ— JBZ % (#&)

TESTBERBE )

I3 - HEBERRE

W - R R RE TR AR R AT
FERMERBEBEIIR - W%
HENRBEEE ZRABEEEER
B REMEEEESHEFRIR
HIERE RE < ERBHKA

ME BEMRBHEREREL
ZXH(IEERFREER)BER
ELMEFABRER - BN AER
BREZBERT  BREARBIZX
HEFEREENEERAETEAR
£ YR HERRBZ TR
DEATHEE @ AAEESKEH
2B MR A BT T L A 82 @ B
BE W T LAMBREITE o

WENREME WS MERERE
Z T R A B DA B AR M BH EL AR
AZHEFBEESE - RUERAZ
ERFEMNRMT

BEMEET b gisEt
HE i

gF 3%%=10%
HEMERE 1% A 8P
%10%.2

BREE

RS Fe i 2% 10%%20%
R~ 2B KR 20%
B 10% % 20%



Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(Continued)

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives as follows. The
amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss

and included in administrative expenses.

Club membership
Distribution network
Customer relationship

Tradename, patents and license rights with indefinite
useful lives are tested for impairment annually either
individually or at the cash generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of
an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the intangible asset and are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the intangible

asset is derecognised.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other

leases are classified as operating leases.

76 Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2016

2.

B

2.4

%Aﬁ— JBZ % (#&)

TESHBERMER)
B EE(BEBRM) (E)
BETRE N TS ERFRNE

AREERHR R o BRSO RS
BRMER T ATTHER o

CETELE 2954
DA = Er S 105
EFEBE A%

EREAFHIAE - BF R
REFRENIERSELSENUE
HAETRENR - BREFEET
T#E ERAZENEEZER
FHesFRY UETRLTHEE
BRI ZFE - MAER - E
RESHERERPESAR AR
EPEENE

R ILERBEERMESL Z W
mRE BT ARTY B E &SN
HFEEREECEETE U’
R ERE EER RS R IER

HE
RABEGRRA AR Z BB R
B REHEETABEAZEE -5
REAMENE - MEEMEER
SRR ETHE -



Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred. In the event that lease incentives
are received to enter into operating leases, such
incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of
rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values of the leasehold interests in the land element
and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

2.

BERSFTHEE)
24 FESHBRMESE)

HE(#E)

A E@EBEEA

REEE N IR B SRR TH B A R
RRFAN  ERES—BREAGEE
PRRRBEEEE & BEN S HOH
FoRERENARI - KEHE
EEZHAEEREMELSER
R R - W LR EHERE
BHERR  AZFEREISA
& - REZ NS RRIREREER
REERAXED  EREZ—RBXR
MEEFERRBEEE 2 KER
=R Z R RIBRSD -

HELHREF
WM—EEERREE L RETE
N AIREESRREMOEE R
HEZ@BAMBOEREARELD
HERTAEE  HR8EMOIE
AERMEXKLEHE - FRIFM(E
MOBRESKLEHEE - RiLER
TRRHENEREEHE - A8
s EHEFAE(BEEM—=
BIAN IR R L EAREE L
ER ) BB T ER T B s 2 R
RAELH - R REFEHZ
o °

PHbREERERAT —TNFFR 77



Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2.

78

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land and building (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as “prepaid land lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case
of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value with positive net changes in
fair value presented as other income and gains and
negative net changes in fair value presented as other
losses in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss are designated at
the date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in
HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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2.

80

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity are
classified as held to maturity when the Group
has the positive intention and ability to hold them
to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in other income in the statement of profit or
loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in other expenses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in other income in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The
loss arising from impairment is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in finance
costs for loans and in other losses for receivables.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.
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2.

82

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4

summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and
for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of
the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continueqd)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been

transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
other expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as

appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of

directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary, borrowings and amount

due to a director.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or

loss.

Convertible bond

(@) The convertible bond satisfied “fixed-for-fixed”

condition

The component parts of the convertible
bonds are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument. Conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for
a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Convertible bond (Continued)

@)

The convertible bond satisfied “fixed-for-fixed”
condition (Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar non-convertible
instruments. This amount is recorded as a
liability on an amortised cost basis using the
effective interest method until extinguished
upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity
is determined by deducting the amount of
the liability component from the fair value of
the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, and is
not subsequently remeasured. In addition,
the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option
is exercised, in which case, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to
share premium. When the conversion option
remains unexercised at the maturity date of
the convertible bonds, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to accumulated
losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss upon conversion or expiration of
conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability
and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are
recognised directly in equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability
component and are amortised over the lives
of the convertible bonds using the effective
interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Convertible bond (Continued)

(b)

The convertible bond classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The convertible bond includes a liability
component, a conversion option and a
redemption option. The conversion option
that will not be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is treated
as a derivative. Derivatives embedded in a
financial instrument are treated as separate
derivatives when their economic risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those
of the host contract (the liability component)
and the host contract is not carried at fair value
through profit or loss.

The convertible bond (including the liability
component, the conversion option and the
redemption option) as a whole is designated
as a financial liability at fair value through profit
or loss on initial recognition. In subsequent
periods, the entire convertible bond is
measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised directly in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the convertible bond designated
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the
Group on certain products are recognised based
on sales volume and past experience of the level of
repairs and returns, discounted to their present values
as appropriate.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Income tax
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, taxation
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting
period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They
are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the financial periods to which they relate,
based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes
to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of income tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well
as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit including existing taxable
temporary differences will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or
loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period the
liability is settled or the asset realised, provided they
are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss, in other comprehensive
income or in equity if they relate to items that are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income
or directly to equity.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received. Government grants are recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods
in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Specifically, government grants whose
primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount
of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss over
the useful lives of the related assets. Government
grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Revenue is
reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and
other similar allowances. Revenue is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

(@

from the sale of goods, when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group retains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold. This is usually taken as the
time when the goods are delivered and the
customer has accepted the goods;

from the provision of services, when the
services are rendered;

dividend income from investments, when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment has
been established; and

interest income from a financial asset, when
the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset
to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group's business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographic area of operations, or
is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued
operation, a single amount is presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, which
comprises the post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or
loss recognised on the measurement to fair value
less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets
or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.

Share-based payments

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received determined by reference to the fair
value of share options granted at the grant date and
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
option reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates during the vesting period,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Where the terms and conditions of options are
modified before they vest, the change in the fair value
of the options, measured immediately before and
after the modification, is also recognised in profit or
loss over the remaining vesting period.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

In accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485), the Group and the
employees are required to make monthly contributions
to the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes (the
“MPF Scheme”) calculated as a percentage of the
employees’ salaries which are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in independently administered
funds. When an employee leaves the MPF Scheme,
with the exception of the MPF Scheme, prior to his/
her interest in the Group’s employer contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group may be reduced by the relevant amount of any
forfeited contributions. In respect of the Schemes,
the Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the scheme.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Pension scheme (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries, which
operate in the PRC, are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2016

2.

B

2.4

%Aﬁ— JBZ % (#&)

TESTBERBE )

HitESEA (&)

Bifzat8(4E)
AEERTEEEZTARZER
ASMAM T HHTEE 2 RE
KREEtE - ZFEFRARARKES
ERAZETEOLARRERSE
FEIEHHER - RIBEF REAREE
BiRp - BEHRRENE - 8518
SRR -

BERA

WiE - BEkEEREREE(AA
Rip—BERENAEZERER
BRARNEZEE) 2 BREIGE
BERARIERZEEERA—EHD
BRAEN - FRFEERBR LER
HEtERa Al EREILERA
REENARETER - EFERE
HABENEEREERMA
FERRERRRZEERA - A
REBRMeZ BERAFER  F7
BEMEERARELREZH -
EERANEEEREEABESRT
B4 2N B R EAMRKA -



Notes to the Financial Statements B #5#k R M1zt

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

24

Summary of significant accounting
policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting
period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the
exchange reserve).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 2.4 to the financial statements, the
Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Going concern and liquidity

Management makes an assessment of the Group's ability to
continue as going concern when preparing the consolidated
financial statements. The Group is dependent upon the
upcoming business performance, and the successful
implementation and outcome of the measures as set forth in
note 2.1 in order to meet the Group’s future working capital
and financing requirement.

In assessing whether or not the going concern assumption
is appropriate, management takes into account all available
information about the future, which is at least but is not
limited to, twelve months from the reporting date of the
consolidated financial statements. Should the Group be
unable to raise new financing or other measures fail to
improve the liquidity of the Group and the Group is unable to
continue in business as a going concern, adjustments would
be needed to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets of
the Group to their recoverable amount and, to provide for
further liabilities which might arise.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from bhinding sales transactions in an arm’'s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or CGU and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables. This estimate is
based on the credit history of the customers and the current
market condition and the provision is applied to receivables
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible. Management reassesses the
adequacy of provision on a regular basis. The identification of
impairment of receivables requires the use of judgements and
estimates. Where expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact on the carrying values
of receivables and the impairment of receivables recognised
in the periods in which such estimates have been made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Current tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
the PRC. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions in accordance with the prevailing tax regulations
and makes tax provision accordingly. However, judgement
is required in determining the Group’s provision for income
taxes as there are transactions and calculations of which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact on the income tax
and deferred tax provision in the periods in which such
determination is made.

Useful lives of other intangible assets

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives and consequent related amortisation rate (if any) for its
other intangible assets. These estimates are based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of comparable
intangible assets in related industries. Actual economic life
may vary from estimated useful life. Periodic review could
result in a change in useful lives and consequently increase
or decrease in amortisation expenses.

Useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the residual values,
useful lives and related depreciation charges for the Group's
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual residual value and
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where residual values or useful lives
are less than previously estimated, or it will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a
change in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation in the
future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Provision against obsolete and slow-moving
inventories

Management reviews the condition of inventories of the
Group and makes provision for obsolete and slow-moving
inventory items which are identified as no longer suitable for
sale or use. Management estimates the net realisble value
for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. The Group carries out
an inventory review at the end of each reporting period and
makes provision against obsolete and slowmoving items.
Management reassesses the estimation at the end of each
reporting period. The identification of obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items requires the use of judgements and
estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact on the carrying value
of inventories and the write-own of inventories recognised in
the period in which such estimate has been made.
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4.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. BIEREKER
4.1 Categories of financial instruments 41 £WMIBEZSE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RERPASZESHRTAZERAE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting m

period are as follows:

Financial assets ERMEE

2016 2015
“E-NE “Z-R%
Held-to- Held-to-
maturity  Loans and maturity Loans and
investments  receivables Total investments  receivables

BRE XK BEZ ERR

HERE ez At AR E e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'00
FiEgn TiEgn FiEgn TR TR TEL

Loan receivables FERER - 4,549 4,549 - - -
Trade receivables JEUERSN - 90,293 90,293 - 186,685 186,685
Other receivables and EthEKIER
deposits (excluding ®e(TaEa
prepayments) FE) - 23,467 23,467 - 21470 21470
Amount due fromarelated MR —FIEER T
company HA - 2,532 2,532 - - -
Held-to-maturity investment 5B 2 3|ERR S 5,031 - 5,031 - - -
Cashand cash equivalents B2 RELSEN - 64,079 64,079 - 7,983 7,983
5,031 184,920 189,951 - 216,138 216,138
Financial liabilities cRAas
2016 2015
—E—RE —E—ARF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FBTT
Financial liabilities at amortised REERATTEZ
cost: SREE:
Trade payables FERTERRK 53,926 69,558
Other payables and accruals HAb N HIBRIEFTER 55,586 45,968
Amount due to a non-controlling B FRE—RIEERRAR R
shareholder of a subsidiary RIE 726 763
Amount due to a director BN —REEHIE 17 286
Borrowings BE 286,694 344,887

396,949 461,462
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.2

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include,
loan receivables, trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits, held-to-maturity investment, amount
due from a related company, trade payables, other
payables and accruals, borrowings, amount due to
a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and
amount due to a director. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the relevant notes to
the financial statements. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

The Group's activities expose it primarily to the market
risks of changes in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates risks. There has been no significant
change to the Group's exposure to market risks or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risk
over the year.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate of the Group’s borrowings is
disclosed in note 32. As the Group has no significant
variable interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities, the Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rate. The Group adopts centralised
treasury policies in cash and financial management
and focuses on reducing the Group’s overall interest
expenses. The Directors are of the opinion that the
Group’s sensitivity to the change in interest rate is
low.
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4.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.2 Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

4.

BEREE @

4.2

MEREERERBR#)

Market risk (Continued) miEER(E)
currency risk B
Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value EERBIESRTI A ARESA

or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. The Group's exposure to currency exchange
rates in Renminbi (“RMB”) is minimal as majority of
the subsidiaries of the Group operates in the PRC
with most of the transactions denominated and
settled in RMB. The Group currently does not have a
hedging policy on currency risk but the management
would consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The policies to manage currency risk have been
followed by the Group in prior years and are
considered to be effective.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity
at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably
possible change in the RMB exchange rate, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss
after income tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group's equity.

Kfﬁilzlbglzrﬁgﬁlﬁtﬂiﬁ/&@
ZRER - ARAEEARE S T AR
EREAMEE  BEXBIRS
RARBTAREDIERESR
MRS EAE 2 ARBEXERE
B8 o ARER IR B I MR W A B
BE - HEBRESNTERZRY
HERINERS

$$@—E”Lﬁﬁ BEFEZEEEA
”“ E IEBZﬁ Hu/u ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁxﬂ

TRETRBRERMAEMEHERT
g AKEEAEHEER(ER
%é?&‘%ﬁz&ﬁﬁ A EE L)
RAKEZ#EZRERPREAR
BEXR A i%ﬂZﬁﬁlﬁ&fg g

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in loss after (decrease)
in RMB rate  income tax in equity
MRFrBBi%
ARHBEER B8 Em
EAH(TE) #in CRL)  #Ein R
HK$'000 HK$°000
THET FHET
2016 —xE
If RMB weakens against HK$ i AR EE S BTz (E (5) 7,631 7,631
If RMB strengthens against HK$ i A R EE 8T FHE 5 (7,631) (7,631)
2015 —ZT-RHF
If RMB weakens against HK$ i AR EE BTz E (5) 6,085 6,085
If RMB strengthens against HK$ fi# A R EE BT FHE 5 (6,085) (6,085)
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4.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.2

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in
relation to each class of recognised financial asset is
the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has put in place policies to ensure that
sales of products or services are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history and the Group
performs credit period evaluations of its customers. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual receivable at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies
or state-owned banks in the PRC.

Other than a concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks with
high credit ratings, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, as risk exposure is spread
over a number of counterparties and customers.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and an availability of funding through
the ability to close-out market positions. In the opinion
of the Directors, the Group should have adequate
resources to meet its obligation in the forthcoming
year on the basis set out in note 2.1 to the financial
Statements.
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4.

104

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.2 Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the reporting date of the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the reporting
date) and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay:

At 31 March 2016

(0]]]
demand

BER
HK$'000
TiEn

4.

Within
1 year
—£R

HK$'000
TiEn

R R ER 2

4.2

Within
1t0 2 years

—EWMER
HK$'000

TiEn

MHEREEBRERBERE)

FHRSEB(E)

TR EBILT S B ER
SHERMZHTADDEER -
BT EA R ERSRE (B
AR R R (EATR) RSB
592 BRI 4 2 ISR AR
AEE A AR R 2 B A
Mg

R-ZF-AH¥=A=t—AH

Total

contractual
Over undiscounted  Carrying
2years  cash flow amount

CLEN
BEMEF RERELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn

Trade payables FEHER 45,869 8,057 - - 53,926 53,926
Other payables and HivEzER
accruals E:HER 55,586 - - - 55,586 55,586
Amount due to a non- ERTRA-%
controlling shareholder FERRE
of a subsidiary HR 726 - - - 726 726
Amount dueto adirector B —REZFE 17 - - - 17 17
Borrowings EE 102,119 186,314 - - 288,433 286,694
Provision B 55,002 - - - 55,002 55,002
Convertible bonds MiRRES - - - 153,400 153,400 102,070
259,319 194,371 - 153,400 607,090 554,021
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4.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 4. BIERBERE2)
4.2 Financial risk management objectives 4.2 BIBEMREEEERBE®)
and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER(E)
At 31 March 2015 RZE—hF=HA=+—H
Total
contractual
On Within Within Over  undiscounted Carrying
demand Tyear  1t02years 2years cash flow amount
REX —ER  —EREA HEAME He) FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tir T Tin THE THEr
Trade payables ERER 28,580 40978 - - 69,558 69,558
Other payables and EHERTER
accruals E:tEH 45,963 - - - 45,963 45,963
Amount due to @ non- ERFRAA-%
controlling shareholder FERRR
of a subsidiary FE 763 - - - 763 763
Amountduetoadirector  EN—4ESHE 286 - - - 286 26
Borrowings &8 130,294 218,607 - - 348,901 344,887

205,891 259,585 - 465,476 461,462

4.3 Fair value estimation 4.3 RAREME
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of BERE  AEBREFEAUEHRE
the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities BHHEKAAR 2 eREER SR
carried at amortised cost in the consolidated financial BECEREBEHAR-_ZT—FRFR
statements approximate their fair values as at 31 —E-REZAZ=ZT—HZRAAE
March 2016 and 2015. BEEE -

4.4 Capital management 4.4 EFXRER
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital AEFBEAEERZ EZHIZARE
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to REBZIFERERE N RERER
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy ZEARLA  AAEEBRMETR
capital ratios in order to support its business and kAR REAIEREEE -

maximise shareholders’ value.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts REBZEREBBEEEELAR
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, AMEE AEh e (RIEE BITIRA
comprising issued share capital and reserves. N &) °
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4.

106

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

4.4 Capital management (continued)

The Group reviews the capital structure on an
annual basis and makes adjustments to it in the
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. Based on
the review, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through raising or repayment of borrowings.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts
divided by total assets. At the reporting years ended
31 March 2016 and 2015, the Group’s gearing ratio
was 143.1% and 102.5%, respectively.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Tobacco agricultural machinery: sale of tobacco
agricultural machinery in the PRC;

(b) Digital television: broadcast and advertising income of
digital television in the PRC;

(c) Car beauty: provision of car beauty and maintenance
services in Hong Kong (commenced on 30 December
2015); and

(d) Money lending: provision of mortgage loans and short-
term loans in Hong Kong (commenced on 8 March
2016).

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group disposed
of (i) the entire equity interests in Hong Kong New Success
International Group Investment Company Limited (“New
Success”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“New Success Group”) which were engaged in healthcare
product business; and (i) the Group's 50.5% equity interests
in Henan Baorong Biological Technology Company Limited
("Henan Baorong”) which was engaged in fertilizer and
pesticide business. Accordingly, the Group’s healthcare
products operation and fertilizer and pesticide operation
were treated as discontinued operations. The segment
information reported below does not include any amounts for
the discontinued operations which are disclosed in note 14.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/

KETHER ®)

BESREREAEELED MBI EE -
J/M’Eﬁﬁﬁaﬁﬁ D BE R RIRFAR 2 IRER ©
DMRFILAIET ERBEEEBLAE
B B A& /JEETEZ—Ifi&”4 12 A /Jgﬁ
BT - HELE XL HBRBIA

loss before tax from continuing operations. The adjusted S B E AN E B E KL SRR BLA

profit/loss before tax from continuing operations is measured A — PR E  EIRITABEWA - BEK
consistently with the Group'’s profit before tax from continuing RAREREREMDERS W ANAER
operations except that bank interest income, finance costs 2 o

as well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded
from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude investment in an associate, deferred
tax assets, corporate and unallocated assets and assets
relating to discontinued operations.

DHMEETEBER—HBERRZKRE
BEXEHRBEE CERMAPEEERED
RIREXRBRRZEE -

DHEBETERRBEECHAEAR - AHAKRE
7o EERRIEAEREACKRIEEEE

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, convertible
bonds, corporate and unallocated liabilities and liabilities

relating to discontinued operations. BEHRCBE -
Segment Results DERE
For the year ended 31 March 2016 BE-Z—A"F=A=+t—HLEFE

Tobacco
agricultural Digital Money
machinery

television  Car beauty lending Total
BEEEEM BFER REER W& @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TET TR TR

Segment revenue yik: 1l ON
Sales to external customers HETINIZE 13,169 5,545 718 19 19,451
Segment results PREE (191,818) 667 54 4 (191,093)
Reconciliation; HER -
Bank interest income RITFIBMA 30
Unallocated gains AoflE 244
Finance costs BEKA (28,019)
Corporate and other unallocated ¥R E AN E

expenses (53 (16,793)
Loss before income tax BRETEHAIESE (235,631)
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. &E&HIRER #)

Segment Results (continued) DEBHELE ()
For the year ended 31 March 2015 HE_T—AF=A=+—HILFE
Tobacco
agricultural Digital Money
machinery television Car beauty lending Total
BE R YTER REEZA & 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT AT THT TAT
Segment revenue AEMA
Sales to external customers HEETIBEP 122,943 8,135 - - 131,078
Segment results DENELE (72,676) (885) - - (73,561)
Reconciliation: HR
Bank interest income FATFEHA 1,791
Unallocated gains AP EE 7,137
Finance costs i (25,868)
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ¥R EMANE
expenses 253 (56,909)
Loss before income tax BRETEHAIEE (147,410)
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. &S IRER #)

Segment Assets and Liabilities PEEERES
At 31 March 2016 R-ZB—XR"F=A=+—H

Tobacco
agricultural Digital
machinery  television Car beauty lending Total

EEREAM HFER AEXR W& EH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TET

Segment assets PHEE 190,730 4,331 2,700 4,551 202,312
Reconciliation; HiR
Deferred tax assets BERBEE 4,477
Corporate and other unallocated ¥ R E A E

assets A 69,536
Total assets BEE 276,325
Segment liabilities AEEE 378,937 4,710 400 = 384,047
Reconciliation: HiR
Deferred tax liabilities ETHEEE 584
Convertible bonds AaRES 102,070
Corporate and other unallocated ¥R E A E

liabilities afE 67,904
Total liabilities BefE 554,605

MuREERERDFE —TNFFHR 109



Notes to the Financial Statements Bt 7%k = KizE

5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. &E&HIRER #)

Segment Assets and Liabilities (continued) PHEEREE#Z)
At 31 March 2015 RZE—RF=A=+—H
Tobacco
agricultural Digital Money

machinery television Car beauty lending Total

BE R YFER REEZA W& st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AT THL THL THT THL

Segment assets NEEE 332,141 3,604 - - 335,745

Reconciliation: HR

Deferred tax assets ERERIBEE 4,037
Corporate and other unallocated ¥ R E AN E

assets BE 1,870

Total assets BEE 341,652

Segment liabilities HEEE 388,106 3,654 - - 391,760

Reconciliation: R

Deferred tax liabilities BILEHIEBE 48
Corporate and other unallocated ¥R Ef A E

liabilities A 69,729

Total liabilities BafE 461,537
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. &S IRER #)

Other Segment Information Hibp HER
For the year ended 31 March 2016 BE-ZE—XRE=ZA=1+—HILEE

Tobacco
agricultural Digital
machinery  television Car beauty lending Total

EEREAM HFER AEXR W& EH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TET

Depreciation nE 4,182 262 123 - 4,567
Unallocated depreciation ROBEHE 389
4,956

Amortisation of other intangible  Eft &R EE

assets B - 7 23 - 30
Amortisation of prepaid land lease 81+ #FAE I8
payments gt 273 - - - 273
Write-off of items of property, MmE BB LREEE
plant and equipment ZMisH 2,368 - - - 2,368
Write-cown of inventories BEZ#MA 7,359 - - - 7,359
Impairment of items of property, — #1% - BE LR EER
plant and equipment LRE 12,346 - - - 12,346
Impairment of trade receivables  FEURERF 2 fE 93,137 - - - 93,137
Impairment of other receivables  E it fBYLFIE 7 1B 88 = = - 88
Provision for legal claim FEREREG 55,002 = - - 55,002
Capital expenditure BAHY - 124 10 - 134
Unallocated expenditure RO 4,380
4,514
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. R&AIRER 2)

7
Other Segment Information (continued) Hittn &R (2)
For the year ended 31 March 2015 HE_T—AF=A=+—HILFE
Tobacco
agricultural Digital Money
machinery television Car beauty lending Total
BE R HYFEH REEZA & st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
Depreciation nE 4,691 311 - - 5,002
Unallocated depreciation ROBEHE 222
5,224

Amortisation of other intangible ~ EfER BEE

assets 4832 8 - - 4,840
Amortisation of prepaid land lease 81+ 7R E I8

payments B 280 - - - 280
Write-off of items of property, mE - BRTEE

plant and equipment THE 2 M 1 - - - 1
Impairment of items of property, — ¥1% - L&A

plant and equipment R ZRE 1,369 - - - 1,369
Impairment of other HitEEE

intangible assets ZRE 27,084 - - - 27,084
Impairment of trade FEUER 2 R B

receivables 29,554 - - - 29,554
Impairment of other HitEKEY

receivables HE 1,915 - - - 1,915
Capital expenditure BAMY 315 175 - - 490
Unallocated expenditure AOEREL Sl

541
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5.  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers from continuing operations
and non-current assets other than deferred tax assets and
assets relating to discontinued operations.

reEHER 2

& &R
TRIBEAEE KGR BECLERINGE
EZ WA RIEREEAE(RERBEER R
DR T ST BB BERIN Z D o

2016 2015
—E—RE

—ET—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

Revenue from external customers SHEBEFUWA
The PRC s 18,714 131,078
Hong Kong BB 737 -
19,451 131,078
2016 2015
—E—REF —E—ARF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Non-current assets EREBEE

The PRC F 31,910 53,324
Hong Kong B 6,139 233
38,049 53,557

The geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the non-current assets
is based on the physical and operating location of the assets.
The Company is an investment holding company incorporated
in Bermuda and operated in Hong Kong, while the Group has
the majority of its operations and its workforce in the PRC,
and therefore, the PRC is considered as the Group’s country
of domicile for the purpose of the disclosures as required by
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

Information about major customers

Revenue of HK$2,814,000 (2015: HK$15,861,000) was derived
from a single customer of the tobacco agricultural operation
segment accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 March 2016.

BEPMEMIEE TR MRS KA E R
mZfEE D - FRBEEMEMWENE
TIRBEEZERRKEVEE D - AAF]
RPRAREIMULERBEBLEZRE
BERAR > MARBEABOESERETH
URRE - Bt - BIEREEM B HRELE
AIFSHRIEEDMMIAREZEEMS » A
SERPESEEER

FEEFZER
g A 2814008 T (ZF — A
15,861,000/ 70 ) RE B E BELE D
B-—XF  hERKEBE_ZT—RF
=+—HIEFERAZ10%kA £

_FH

ok
=

Z
A

@z
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6.

7.

114

REVENUE 6. WA
2016
—E—xF
HK$'000
FEx
Continuing operations BESEEK
Sale of tobacco agricultural machinery SHEEE R 13,169 122,943
Digital television service income HFERRBEUWA 5,545 8,135
Car beauty service income YREBEERRBUA 718 -
Money lending interest income RN S WA 19 -
19,451 131,078
OTHER INCOME 7. EAfrA
2016 2015
—E—RF —E—hHF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHET FBTT
Continuing operations HEREER
Bank interest income RITHBUA 30 1,791
Interest income from held-to-maturity BEZIERE 2 F SR A
investment 134 -
Interest income from amount due from a fEU —FEREE A B 2 A E WA
related company 32 -
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE - M REBEEE
plant and equipment 2 Was - 194
Government grants (note) BT Bh (P 3E) = 633
Waiver of interest expenses on convertible & Al &S 2 F 2R
bond (note 35(b)) (FH#E35(0)) - 6,224
Sundry income FEEIRA 78 86
274 8,928

Note:

Government grants mainly include government grants received for
investments in Jiangsu Province and Hunan Province in the PRC.
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

grants.

BiE -

ek B HRA -
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8.  OTHER LOSSES

8. HfttEa

2016
—E-XRF
HK$'000
FHET
Continuing operations BESEEK
Change in fair value of financial assets BRAREFABRcERMEE
at fair value through profit or loss RN EEE = 25
Change in fair value of convertible bond MREF AR EEE)
(note 35(b)) (Ffi5E35(0)) - 46,594
Impairment of items of property, Y% - R NEREEE 2
plant and equipment (note 16) BE(HIEE16) 12,346 1,369
Impairment of trade receivables (note 24)  FEURBRRZ RUE (FF5E24) 93,137 29,554
Impairment of other receivables H b FEWGRIE 2 R E
(note 25) (PfF3E25) 88 1,915
Loss on redemption of convertible bond EERRES 2 1A = 630
Loss on repurchase of debentures FECEEE 2 B8
(note 32(c)) (B7E32(0)) - 352
105,571 80,439

9. FINANCE COSTS

9. B

2016 2015
—E—RE —T—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT
Continuing operations BESEEK
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable ARAFREHERE ZRIT
within five years BFE 15,027 15,009
Interest on other loans wholly repayable HARRAFAEEEE ZEM
within five years BEHFE 5,878 10,859
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESH 2 B 7,114 -
28,019 25,868
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10.

116

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax from continuing operations is arrived

at after charging/(crediting):

Employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ remuneration)

BERHFRX
(BRESFMES)

10.

BRETSBRIE R

KEFBEEET 2R PTSH BB &

B (GEA)A T S IEEE

2016
S

HK$'000
TR

— Salaries, wages and other benefits — e IERHEMEF 14,291 17,425
- Retirement benefit scheme contributions  —EREFIFHEIH K 1,545 1,449
15,836 18,874

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments — F&1sf + 3 FH & 7k IE 4 54 273 280
Amortisation of other intangible assets HAb & oy 30 4,840
Depreciation of items of property, EN TN

plant and equipment REEETE 4,956 5,224
Gain on disposals of items of property, HEWE - sk

plant and equipment REIEE 2 WEs = (194)
Write-off of items of property, EN TN

plant and equipment JAEIR B s 2,368 1
Write-down of inventories FEZHMR 7,359 -
Impairment of items of property, VI - BENEREEE 2

plant and equipment RE 12,346 1,369
Impairment of other intangible assets HEmEpEE 2 RE - 27,084
Impairment of trade receivables FEW R R 2 R(E 93,137 29,554
Impairment of other receivables H b U RIE 2 B 88 1,915
Provision for legal claim SEERRERE 55,002 -
Minimum lease payments under operating #&&HSE N RBF 2

leases in respect of land and buildings RIEMAENK 3,555 3,634
Minimum lease payments under operating &&HSE NHAZTREZ

leases in respect of office equipment ®EEENRK 57 60
Auditors’ remuneration eI & 517 767
Cost of inventories sold EEFERA 14,868 87,860
Research and development costs 9T K B A R 248 3,109
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11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 11. EEME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant BRI MR _ ETR A R BB A Rl E{1 25383
to the GEM Listing Rules and Section 383 of the Hong Kong BEHEFEESHIT ¢

Companies Ordinance is as follows:

Salaries, allowances Retirement benefit
Fees and benefits inkind  scheme contributions Total
ik e RURENRE BERIH B @it
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

%A “T-5F S®-AF CTEF A T-5F SEAF CT-EF
HK$'000  HKS000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HKS000 ~ HK$'000  HKS000
Tan T TRR  TER  TAR Tar TR TR

Executive Directors HTEs
lingquan Yingzi HFBRU 665 15 - 230 - - 665 686
Chin Wai Keung Richard HER - - 390 26 - - 390 26
Stephen William Frostick Stephen William Frostick

(note (3)) GG = - 1,526 360 = 9 1,526 369
Wang Anyuan (note (0) TR(MEHD) - 194 - 9 - 203 -
Wong Man Hung Patrick (note (c)) T U (MfE(0)) - - - 291 - 6 - 297
Wu Zhongxin KAl - - - - - - - -

Non-executive Director FHTES
Liu Guoshun e e 52 5 - - - - 52 5

Independent Non-executive Biusii18%

Directors
Lee Chi Hwa Joshua 8% 114 102 - - - - 114 102
Sousa Richard Alvaro BEX 14 102 - - - - 114 102
Zhao Zhizheng BEE 114 102 - - - - 114 102
1,059 814 2,110 1,107 9 15 3,178 1,936
Notes: Bt 5
(a) Stephen William Frostick retired as executive Director on 14 (a) Stephen William Frosticki® == —HRF N,
September 2015. A+HBAERTHITES -
(b) Wang Anyuan was appointed as executive Director on 25 (b) FTErTR_ZE—AFNAA-tHRALRE
September 2015. HITESE -
(© wong Man Hung Patrick resigned as executive Director on 8 (©) EXHER=Z—WFE AN\ BEERTT
August 2014. =3
There was no arrangement under which the Director waived REERREESHNEXREREEMME
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2015: ZEBH(ZE—NF  |) o
Nil).
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12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 12. EEEeHMEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two AFEERAGRRTHEEREME(ZE
(2015: one) Director(s), details of whose remuneration are set —hF: —R)EZF FEHEFBEIRN
out in note 11 above. Details of the remuneration for the year FXHFEFN - AEEHRTI=%(ZZ—1
of the remaining three (2015: four) highest paid employees, F:UZ)EeTNEE(ZED LR
which were individually less than HK$1,000,000, are as 1,000,000/ 7T ) 2 Bl & 5F IR0 T -
follows:
2016 2015
—B—REF —T—RHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FBTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e 2N EYRZE 1,374 1,851
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  RRtEFIET 214K 36 67
1,410 1,918
During the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015, no HEZZ - R"FRZE—AF=A=+—
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors ALEFE  ASERERTNESKAS
or the five highest paid employees as an inducement to join SR HEE X HEABE - EAINAR
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of SESNINARE R & 2 BB AE
office.
13. INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. FTEMHIRR
2016 2015
gAY 2 —T—RHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FBTT
Continuing operations BESEER
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax BNERBLIE — BEREH
— Provision for the year —FERE = -

Current tax - PRC Enterprise Income  BNHATHIE — PR DB

Tax (the “EIT") (TEmBHD
- Provision for the year —FERE 88 130
— (Over)/under provision in prior years —BEFE(BERE),
BET R (1,537) 2,512
(1,449) 2,642
Deferred tax ELERE
- Origination and reversal of temporary —HRYEREIEER
differences &g (215) (7,768)
Income tax credit FriSEiE (1,664) (5,126)
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13.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the
financial statements as the Group has no assessable profit in
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law"”) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.
Pursuant to relevant requirements, enterprises recognised as
"High-Tech Enterprises” are entitled to a favorable statutory
tax rate of 15% according to the EIT Law. Jiangsu Kedi Modern
Agriculture Co., Ltd (“Jiangsu Kedi”), an indirectly wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, has been approved and
certified by relevant authorities as a “High-Tech Enterprise”
and is entitled to the favorable statutory tax rate of 15% from
2013 to 2015. Other subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC
are subject to EIT rate at 25% (2015: 25%) on their taxable
income.

Reconciliation between the income tax credit and the Group’s
accounting loss from continuing operations at applicable tax
rates is as follows:

13.

FriSfiiR R &)

HREBEE-—FT-—A"FR-_F-—0F=A
=t BUEFEAKEERTBLEBRN
wmA - MM WA W EL B NG
e

BRIBPEAREMBEEMETOE([ %
PRISHA D) REEMEBUAEIRGS - +
BF QA2 ER25% - \RIBERERE - &
RABBHRMER |2 EXARERE
EMBREZ A% IEEBEREK - AR
AFEZEFARIARMBREEAR
AF(OIFME ) EEBFHE RRBA LR
ERIEARMEE]  RZT—=FF5—
T-—hFZFRBBIEEBERE - NQF]
R B 2 B A F R ARE R AIR
25% 2 EEMBHBER(ZT—RF : 25%)
B -

BERPERAE 2SS BAKERE
BREEVMEE 2 SRBR2ERNT

2016
—E-AF

2015
—ET—HF
HK$'000
THET

HK$'000
FERx

Loss before income tax from continuing BB ET T BRETER

operations AR (235,631) (147,410)
Tax calculated at Hong Kong income tax rate & B FTEHH % 16.5%

of 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) (ZZE—HF  165%):TE

Z WA (38,879) (24,321)

Tax effect of non-taxable income BAERBIRA Z g2 (9,555) (33,442)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR 2 B 2 45,200 47,008
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERARBARIBGE

recognised % 3,077 3,073
(Over)/under provision in respect of prior BEFEGRERE),/

years BETR (1,537) 2,512
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries ~ REMRLAER &L 2 T A7)

operating in other jurisdictions ZTEBEZE 30 44
Income tax credit Frigiiie (1,664) (5,126)
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 14. BRIELKEER
On 30 May 2014, the Group entered into a sales and purchase RZZE—NMFERA=1H AEFEFB
agreement with an independent third party for disposal BE=HEIMNEEHE S LEANEERIE
of the Group’s entire equity interests in the New Success ER(REREBERAEREE)ZEE
Group, which were engaged in manufacturing and trading AR - ZBEXSFR-_E—NEHRA
of healthcare products. The transaction was completed on = +—HEK - E—FHFBENIEHRE
31 May 2014. Further details are included in note 39 to the BIEE39 °
financial statements.
On 30 May 2014, the Group entered into a sales and purchase RZZE—NFRA=+H AEBEEIE
agreement with a non-controlling shareholder for disposal BRIREEI Y ESHE  HEAEENTE
of the Group’s 50.5% equity interests in Henan Baorong, ER(EEE R EEAEENREE ) Z250.5%
which was engaged in manufacturing and trading of fertilizer AR - ZBEX SN _ZE—NFHA
and pesticide. The transaction was completed on 30 May =T HZEK - E— T IBEHRTBRERM
2014. Further details are included in note 39 to the financial 5139 °
statements.
(@  The results of the above-mentioned business (@ LAEBHBIEENT
segments were as below:
2015
—ZE—hF
HK$'000
FAT
Revenue A 13
Cost of sales and services $HE R AR A A (57)
Gross loss EE (44)
Other income HABKA 27
Distribution costs PaN iz DN (213)
Administrative expenses THER (934)
Finance costs BhE A (2,188)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFARZWEE 11,055
Profit before income tax from discontinued BRI E TS 2 RS
operations z0pigl 7,703
Income tax credit FriSIHIE R -
Profit for the year from discontinued operations AR T 2 FIE R 7,703
Profit/(loss) attributable to: AT AT REERF,(E1E) :
Owners of the Company RATHEB A 8,642
Non-controlling interests IR R (939)
7,703
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

(0)

©

Analysis of the expenses of discontinued operations (b)

was as follows:

Employee benefit expenses
Depreciation of items of property,
plant and equipment
Minimum lease payments under operating
leases in respect of land and buildings
Cost of inventories sold

14. BRIEREER 2
DR R SIS 2 DT -

2015

—F4F

HK$'000

FHT

REBHFX 256

WE - BEMEREEER

e 370
KEHEBR T T REFY

SEMEERZK 25

BEFENRAR 57

The net cash flows of the discontinued operations
within these financial statements were as follows:

© ZEMBHRRADKUERERHER
BRE

SRR ¢

2015

—REF

HK$'000

THET

Operating activities K TRED (534)
Investing activities TEEE (163)
Financing activities A& R E 593
Net cash outflow IR 55 (104)
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15. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 15. ARABHEE ABLEREE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(a) Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the (a) BRERNSEZAEERNNGHES
loss attributable to owners of the Company by the ANEEERAFAD 81T mAR
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue ZINEFHEEE -
during the year.
2016 2015
—E-XRF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
(Loss)/Earnings (B58),/BA
Loss attributable to owners R REE A
of the Company g}
From continuing operations REFFEL L (233,399) (142,133)
From discontinued operations REDKRIEEEETE = 8,642
(233,399) (133,491)
Number of shares BROEE ‘000 ‘000
T F iz
(Restated)
(ES)
Weighted average number of BT AR T8
ordinary shares in issue (note) (f3E) 106,062 68,943
Note: BiE -
The weighted average number of shares for the purpose of HE-_Z—RAF=A=+—HLFE"
calculating the basic loss per share has been retrospectively AT E SRR EAREE TR Z R 5 hnEF
adjusted for the year ended 31 March 2015 to reflect the HEBEERPAE  UxBRAAF D5
impact of the two share consolidations of the Company RZE—FRAFNAZ+EBEE=ZF—F
which was completed on 24 August 2015 and 15 October FHA+TABRERZMABRMDEH 2
2015, respectively. Z.
()  No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings (b) AR EARITEAIBREESEREE
per share amounts presented for the years ended 31 e WUARBE_ZT—FK
March 2016 and 2015 in respect of a dilution as the —E—RF=A=+—BULEFEEM
impact of the convertible bonds outstanding had an 252 GRERZFNEL T -

anti-dilutive effect.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. W% - WBERFE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
B 2B
BT  RENERE HERER kit i h

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Thr Thr ThL Thr Thr Thr
Cost A
A1 April 2014 RZE-REFNA-A 49,151 10,970 52836 9,750 10,267 132974
Additions BB - 177 175 41 91 o
Disposals ij 5 - - (8) (10) (999) (1,099)
Disposals of subsidiaries note 39) ~ HETFAA(HE) (4,002) (8834 9.753) (1823) (482) (24.89)
Write-off i - - - ®) - (8)
Exchange differences EizE 572 % 545 5 2% 1292
At 31 March 2015 RZE-RF=fA=t-H 45,721 2,339 317 799 9,201 108973
Additions i - - 132 16 436 451
Acquisition of abusiness (note 38)  MrEE R Mi3E38) - 144 8 1 - 17
Write-off i - - (276) - - (2761
Fxchange differences EREE (2,209 (100 (2,08) 97 (444) (4882
At 31 March 2016 R=8-A§ZA=1-8 43,518 2,68 39,078 7918 13,123 106,320
Accumulated depreciation ZHTERAE
and impairment
A1 April 2014 RZE-BFEA-A 17,384 5,524 32,851 9120 6,228 71,107
Depreciation ik 1507 636 2203 30 898 5594
Disposals hE - - (49 @) (931) (988)
Disposals of subsidiaries note 39)  HEFRA(HEE) (675 (4,445 (4,358) (1862 21 (11761)
Write-off s - - - ) - i
Impairment losses note 8) AEEE(IS) 1369 - - - - 1369
Bxchange differences EREE 212 14 32 20 7 680
At 31 March 2015 R-E2-R1F=A=+-A 19,797 1719 31,009 7,563 5,846 6599%
Depreciation i 1441 651 1,952 7 835 4,95
Write-off s - - (393) - - (393
Impairment losses note 8) AEEE () 12346 - - - - 12346
Exchange differences EREES (1289 89) (1,531 (83) (296) (3289
At 31 March 2016 RZg-XE=A=t-8 32,298 234 31037 7,557 6,385 79,618
Carrying amount RAE
At 31 March 2016 R-E-~E=A=1-H 11,220 342 8,041 361 6,738 26,702
AL March 2015 R-Z-15ZAZ1-A 25904 50 12,708 5t 355 03m

At 31 March 2016, certain of the Group's buildings with a
net carrying amount of approximately HK$11,220,000 (2015:
HK$25,924,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in note 42 to the
financial statements.

RZE-—RF=ZA=+—H8  ~5E8Kk
EFEA11,2200008 L (ZE — A %F :
25,924,000/870) 2 5 TEFE THEM - 1F
R RRM T2 BEARE R E R
RITRUBERE ZHE(R -
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17.

124

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 17. FEfFribFEERE
2016
—E-XE
HK$'000
FET
Carrying amount REE
Beginning of the year REH] 10,720 10,862
Amortisation 54 (273) (280)
Exchange differences (R (510) 138
End of the year RER 9,937 10,720
Non-current portion JERENEL 9,671 10,440
Current portion included in other receivables st AH b fE UL FIE 7 i B35 266 280
9,937 10,720
The leasehold land is situated in the PRC and is held under a THE T HAIARE - R EIELEE -
medium term lease.
At 31 March 2016, certain of the Group's prepaid land lease R-EBE—XRNF=ZA=+—8 - $‘$ = B8R
payments with a net carrying amount of approximately EFBE 49,937,008 L (ZFE—RHF
HK$9,937,000 (2015: HK$10,720,000) were pledged to secure 10,720,000 7T ) 2 & T8 T H E 7R
general banking facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in O - BRI EHE N 42T 3 B A
note 42 to the financial statements. SEFTE—MIBITRURTEE &R o
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18. GOODWILL 18. BHE
2016
—E-XE
HK$'000
FEx
Cost B
Beginning of the year REH] 260,346 319,790
Acquisition of a business (note 38) W 2 75 (PEE38) 873 -
Derecognition on discontinued operations 4% | FHERE 4R I FAC & 215 - (62,698)
Exchange differences PEH =58 (12,547) 3,254
End of the year RER 248,672 260,346
Accumulated impairment ZitRE
Beginning of the year REH 260,346 319,790
Derecognition on discontinued operations 42 FFERRE 4R LA 375 = (62,698)
Exchange differences EHZR (12,547) 3,254
End of the year RERXR 247,799 260,346
Carrying amount REE
End of the year RER 873 -
Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are BRARMERERE 2 FHBER I FE203% 5 -

disclosed in note 20.
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19.

Patent and
license
rights
VT |
HK'000
T4

(note @)
(Fiza)

Club
membership
={ik=t

Customer
relationship
EFHE
HK'000
AT

Distribution
network
PEERE

HK'000
T4

Total
st
HK'000
T

Tradename
[l

HK'000
T4
(note b)
(MizEb)

HK'000
7

126

At 1 April 2014 RZZ-RENA—-A 144 11,808 14,937 4772 - 31,661
Amortisation B ®) - - (4,832 - (4,840)
Impairment losses HEER - (11,959) (15,126) - - (27,084)
Exchange differences BRZEE 2 150 189 60 - 401
At 31 March 2015 RZE-R5=A=+-H 138 - N N N 138
Acquisition of a business (note 38)  IEE£Hs (H3E38) - - 337 - 365 702
Amortisation B 0] - - - 23 (30)
Exchange differences ERZE 0] - - - - ]
At 31 March 2016 R-B-REZR=1-H 124 - 337 - 342 803

Notes: BfsE

(@) The patents and license rights (“Licenses”) were purchased (@) BRI RFAE(FTAIE]DE TWEE - 15

as part of business combinations in the acquisition of a
subsidiary. The Directors are of the opinion that the upkeep
of the Licenses are at minimal cost and the Group would be
able to renew the License continuously. The Licenses are
considered by the management of the Group as having an
indefinite life and will not be amortised. Instead these will
be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is
an indication that it may be impaired. Particulars regarding
impairment testing on the Licenses are disclosed in note 20.

The tradename is considered by management to have
indefinite useful lives and there is no foreseeable limit to
the period over which they are expected to generate cash
flows for the Group as it is expected that their value will not
be reduced through usage and there are no legal or similar
limits on the period for the use of the tradename. Instead it
will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there
is an indication that it may be impaired. Particulars regarding
impairment testing on tradename are disclosed in note 20.
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20.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives acquired through
business combinations have been allocated to three CGUS,
namely (i) tobacco agricultural CGU, (ii) fertilizer and pesticide
CGU, and (iii) car beauty CGU.

Tobacco agricultural CGU

At the date of acquisition of tobacco agricultural of machinery
business, the management had originally anticipated that
there would be a significant growth in the tobacco agricultural
CGU in subsequent years. However, as to the fact that the
benefit of expected synergies and revenue growth had been
slower than expected and the changes in industry policy may
have imposed uncertainties over the business.

For the year under review, the recoverable amount of the
tobacco agricultural CGU has been determined based on a
value in use calculation by taking into account the cash flow
projections that are based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a seven-year period (2015: seven-year
period) which reflects the prevailing economic pattern of the
operation and valued by professional valuers. The discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 24.33% (2015:
24.28%). The growth for the calculation of the terminal value
is 3% (2015: 3%) which was benchmarked to the long term
average growth rate of the market.

Based on the value in use calculation, the goodwill associated
with the tobacco agriculture CGU were fully impaired as
at 31 March 2011, and impairment losses were further
recognised on other intangible assets of HK$27,084,000 for
the year 31 March 2015 and property, plant and equipment
of HK$12,346,000 (2015: HK$1,369,000) for the year ended
31 March 2016 as the recoverable amounts of this CGU were
less than the carrying value in respective years.

Management's key assumptions include stable profit margins,
which are determined from past performance and its
expectations for market share after taking into consideration
of prevailing market forecasts and research. The growth rates
adopted in the valuation models are generally consistent with
the forecasts found in industry reports. The discount rates
used are the one of pre-tax that reflect specific risks of the
Group in the industry.

Apart from the considerations that have been taken into
account in determining the value in use of the CGU, the
Group’s management is not aware of any possible changes
that would necessitate changes in its key estimates.

20.

EENEMEEERFERAER 2
BIELEE ZRERE

SBERFAME  BBXGEHFRE D
%&E@ﬂ*ﬁ#ﬂﬂ@iﬁﬁiﬂﬁzﬂﬁ/ﬁFE
PRE=—MREELEMN  (VEERERS
ELBEM - (NEHRRERSEEEUR
(ii))SEERRTELEN

BERXRTELEN

REBEEERXEMEBEE  BEER
SEFEET - @“E%iﬁiﬁiiuuﬁﬁﬁﬂ
ERERSELBURNARFEREER
fEIg & o AW - BEREH B REME R EA
BEREMAERITERRBLATREER
AFRIGERDEENE

ROBEEE  BRERERSEFBM 2T
WE B AKT RIRBEEEEHERSE
EHEMGEETRBBETEELCEEN 2
+tFH(ZE—AF  tFHUKEE

BE&RETE) HlJu‘l»:—:ZﬁEﬁﬁ{E{E#}tE B
METEABEAZITIREE243B3%(—F—Hh

F:24.28%) - AREIFHMSERERE
£ HHBEREEZERERN(ZF R
F 1 3%) e

BIFEFHEEFEIN  BEERERS
ELfEMERzEEEN _E—F=7
—t+—H2E8RE TREZ_ZT—AF
—A=Z+—HLEFEREMERLEERR
HE-Z—RE=A=+—HBILtFE#D
¥ BN EE—TSERBREEBED R
/527,084,000 7T } 12,346,000 L ( ==
—HRHF : 1,369,000%87T) - RERAHIREE
BN ZzAWE BN EBTE 2RE
@o

EREsITERREBEREMSBERR

BAEE BIRAT ISR R FR& AT iA(E
BRZBABE 2RENBER - fHERR
PTAIE &= R — AR EL X R ¥R & P 81 T8RN AR
T TRMAR/IRRARENREANZ
FrE R 2 BRATRER X o

BREEREELEMN 2 EREERES
BZHEREI  REBEEEBY TAEFE
AIRIRERME - UBARRERE T BT -
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20.

21.

128

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL AND
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET WITH INDEFINITE
USEFUL LIVES (continued)

Fertilizer and pesticide CGU

The goodwill and other intangible assets associated with the
fertilizer and pesticide CGU were fully derecognised upon
disposal of the interests in the Henan Baorong for the year
ended 31 March 2015. Details of which are set out in note 39
to the financial statements.

Car beauty CGU

Goodwill and other intangible assets with infinite useful lives
were acquired in the acquisition of a car beauty business on
30 December 2015 and allocated into the car beauty CGU.
The carrying amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives under car beauty CGU at the end
of reporting period are as follows:

20.

BERHEMEEERFEATFHZ
BILERE 2 BB &)

EREERERSELEN
BE_Z-—RF=A=+—RHIFE &
R EREReELEMARCHERE
fEPEENEEIHERESREST
R o HE—FFH BN RARM IS -

AEXRBEEELAEN
R-ZE—RF+-_A=+H BELEM
EEERFEAFHZEFNEENRERE

EREBTENE  UYHRRAEERTR
SELEBM - ﬁéiﬁ%,ﬁﬂﬂi REXTRE

EEBMANZEHEREMAEERER
FHENEERBENT

Goodwill kS 873
Tradename [ 337
1,210
In the opinion of the Directors, no impairment loss of goodwill EERA BE-_E—F=A=+—8H
and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives IEFE  BAIBEXAReEAEUMAEL

associated with car beauty CGU was required for the year
ended 31 March 2016.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

21.

BEMEMAAEREAFHCETEE
BAEHRIERE °

—BBE AR ZRE
2016
—RE

2015
—FT—hF
HK$'000
THET

HK$°000
TR

Share of net assets DIFEE 1,121 1,177
Less: Accumulated impairment B REHRE (1,149) (1,148)
Exchange differences b ERE 28 (29)
Amount due from an associate (note (a)) JE U — R = A R R (M RE @) 4,457 4,457
Less: Accumulated impairment B BEHRE (4,457) (4,457)
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21. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 21. —BEEBERARZRE @)
Particulars of the Group’s associate are as follows: REBZBENRFIBEOT
Place of Percentage of
registration Particulars of ownership interest
Name of company and operation registered capital  attributable to the Group  Principal activities
KEBEL
INGER RSN afEAFE REREG 2B FTEEEK
2016 2015
Jiangsu BCTV Fashion Media Company The PRC RMB10,000,000 39.20% 39.20%  Dormant
Limited (note (b)) s AR 10,000,007 B

LEEER HERARAR ()

Notes: BifsE

(@) The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest (@) R —EEE A ARRBEAEERR 28
free and repayable on demand. RIRER(EE -

(b) The company has been dormant since 2010. (b) ZARE_ZE—TFREEE -

There is no associate that is individually material, the ERmE @ WEREEQARBEKN - ~&E

summarised financial information in respect of the Group'’s BN El AR EY & T

associate is set out below:

2016 2015

—E—XEF —T—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Total assets BEE 8,190 8,604

Total liabilities BEE (5,331) (5,600)

Net assets FEE 2,859 3,004

Group's share of net assets of REE DG E AR

an associate FEE 1,121 1,177

Revenue A = -

Loss for the year FEEE = -
Group's share of results of an associate AEBEDE—HBERRZ

for the year FEEE = -
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22. INVENTORIES

22. 78

2016

—E-XE

HK$'000

FET
Raw materials R 21,310 5,221
Work in progress ERE 3,053 24,407
Finished goods R o 4,290 18,159
28,653 47,787

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES

W ERR

2016
—E-ARF

HK$°000
TR

Fixed-rate loan receivables

T LA [E] T ) R & R

4,549 -

At 31 March 2016, secured loan receivable of HK$1,030,000
was secured by the residential properties pledged. The
ranges of effective interest rates (which are equal to
contractual interest rates) on the Group's loan receivables
were 9% to 18% per annum.

The Group seeked to apply strict control over its outstanding
loan receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. Loan receivables were neither past
due nor individually impaired as at 31 March 2016.
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

24.

FE U BR 7R

2016
—E-AF

HK$'000
FER

Trade receivables FEUAR X
Less: Accumulated impairment A BEDRE

209,315 216,239
(119,022) (29,554)

90,293 186,685

(@)

Aged analysis

The Group’s credit terms with its customers generally
range from 30 days to 180 days (2015: 180 days). The
Group seeks to apply strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. As at the end of
the reporting period, an aged analysis of the trade
receivables, net of allowance for bad and doubtful
debts presented based on the respective dates on
which revenue was recognised, are as follows:

(a)

B AT
REBGRTERFZEER RN
TI0XREIBOXR(ZE—FHF : 180
R) o AEBESKEBZEHEKE
BEWHIE  WRIEETHEE
R PR E &K - BEGESRAERE
BETHER BE2®RHAKR &
W BR R 2 BR e 2 AT (R FR A TE R
Z 18R B BIFT 271 2 RIERREE ) I
™

2016

=

HK$'000

FHET
Current BNER 737 5,984
30-90 days 30K E90K = 1,634
91-180 days 91T RE180K - 23,967
Over 180 days 180K A £ 89,556 155,100
90,293 186,685
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Accumulated impairment of trade
receivables

24. FEWERFK (%)
(b) MEWBERFZZFHRE

2016

—E-XRE

HK$'000

FEx
Beginning of the year REH] 29,554 -
Impairment losses recognised (note 8) &332 JF(E K518 (MI5E8) 93,137 29,554
Exchange difference N =% (3,669) -
End of the year RER 119,022 29,554

At 31 March 2016, the Group's trade receivables of
HK$93,137,000 (2015: HK$29,554,000) were individually
determined to be impaired. The individually impaired
receivables relate to customers who were in financial
difficulties and management assessed that only
a portion of these receivables are expected to be
recovered. Accordingly, the Group has recognised
impairment losses during the year in relation to the
amounts which are considered to be irrecoverable.

(c) Aged analysis of trade receivables that
were past due but not impaired

R-ZZT—RF=ZA=+—"H K&
B 2 FE Ut BR 793,137,000/8 T ( =&
— F £ : 29,554,000 7T ) & 18 B
EEABRE - 855 E W E 6
LRV BRREsRFEEHE  ERE
(et 7% F R U GRIE A5 & AT U [l — 2B
oo Bt AEBERFRRER
AAIKE 2 & BRI ERE °

(c) EEHMERREZEBERR
Z BRI DA

2016
—E-XRF

2015
—E—RF
HK$'000
FBTT

HK$°000
TR

0 to 3 months past due #HIOZE3E A 23 15,474
4 to 6 months past due wmHIAE6E A 5,879 23,195
over 6 months past due B HAG(E A LA £ 83,654 116,431

89,556 155,100

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a large number of diversified customers
that have a good track record of credit with the
Group. Based on past credit history, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances.
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. FAFRIE - RERHMEWFRIE
RECEIVABLES
2016 2015
—E-REF —ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Deposits and other receivables =& K E M FEURIR 25,376 23,385
Less: Accumulated impairment B BEDRE (1,909) (1,915)
23,467 21,470
Prepayments SEAREOE 15,154 20,090
38,621 41,560
The movements in the accumulated impairment of other RER - EfbERKIEZ RETREZ S0
receivables during the year are as follows: I
2016 2015
—E-XRF —E—ARF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Beginning of the year REH] 1,915 -
Impairment losses recognised (note 8) R BEEE (FEES8) 88 1,915
Exchange difference b =5 (94) -
End of the year RER 1,909 1,915

26. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY 26. FEW—EREGE N B3IE

The amount due from Cyberland (China) Limited, a non- REAREEIEZERIRER M (FE) GRA
controlling shareholder of the Group is unsecured, carries Al B IE R - REFES%ET%
interest of 5% to 7% per annum, is repayable within one year. FFEBER—FAEE -
27. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENT 27. BFEZEIHKRE

2015

—E—RE —“ZE—FhHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Non-derivate financial assets with fixed BEEEENZFREFESIERAZ
payments and fixed maturity, Hong Kong EBETECRMEE 5,031 -
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28.

29.

134

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand RITEFERS
Denominated in HKD LA ITTEHE
Denominated in RMB MUAREHE

28.

RERBEEEEY

2016
—E-AF

HK$'000
FER

56,503 311
7,576 7,672

64,079 7,983

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

TRADE PAYABLES

Based on the invoice dates, the aged analysis of the trade
payables is as follows:

29.

ARBTAEHABSEMER - AW
RIBF B2 SNEE SR DI RS IE - BER
NEEERTE  ASEEERBEEET
SNER 5 2 RITIEARB HIMAEMER -

RITESRIBE A RITERMRZRZEEDH
KEREUHE - IRITAEHR R EBERDIFR
PEE RAF BT 8 B AR08k 2 RTT »

FE{SBRTR
BERREEH  EHRRZRBATAT

2016 2015

—E—REF —T—RHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Current BIER - 644
30-90 days 30RZE0K 1,063 5,691
91-180 days 9TRZE180K 2 16,774
Over 180 days 180K A &= 52,861 46,449
53,926 69,558

Trade payables are due within 30 to 60 days (2015: 30 to 60
days) from the invoice date.
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 30.

Hitt e IR R BT & H

2016 2015
—E—RE “E—FhHF

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAET

Customer receipts in advances TEW R P I8 5,318 5,232
Other payables H bR 44,222 34,577
Accruals FEETER 6,046 6,159

55,586 45,968

31. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING

SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY/A

DIRECTOR

31.

The amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable on

FESF AR —AFERRR—
BEERE

BRFAREER 2R RIEEREER -

demand.

32. BORROWINGS

Bank loans, secured

S

RITER - AHEM

B8

2016
S i

HK$°000
TR

2015
—E—RF
HK$'000
T

Fixed interest rate (note (a)) & 7E FI 2= (i E@)) 203,594 156,962
Bills of exchange, secured EEE - GHEF

Fixed interest rate (note (b)) EREEEIO) = 75,928
Debentures, unsecured BEREE - EIEE

Fixed interest rate (note (c)) & 7E FI 2= (f5E(C)) 20,253 49,653
Other loans, unsecured HEMER - EIEKHE

Interest free s\ 7,169 6,264

Fixed interest rate (note (d)) [ 7E F) 2= (P 5E(d)) 55,678 54,114
Shareholder’s loan, unsecured FRERER - EIEA

Fixed interest rate (note (e)) EiEShEIC) = 1,966

286,694 344,887

Notes:

BiRE

(a) The bank loans carry interest of 4.85% to 7.5% (2015: 6.0% to
8.1%) per annum, are repayable within 1 year or on demand
and denominated in RMB. The bank loans with the principal
amount of RMB62,000,000 are chargeable additional 50% of
interest as penalty from the date of overdue.

(@) RITEFIEFRNERA85%E75%(—F
—hF  6.0%FE81%)5E - AR—FR
PR BREEBUNARKEE - RITE
RS EE AR #562,000,0007T @ E 2 B
AR FRHNUE0%FI S, o
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32.

136

BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0)

At 31 March 2015, the bills carried the effective interest rate
at 0.05% per annum, were repayable within 1 year or on
demand and denominated in RMB.

In May 2013, pursuant to the regulations and rule in the PRC,
Jiangsu Kedi had issued two-years small and medium-sized
enterprise Private Placement Bonds with aggregate principal
amount of RMB60,000,000 carrying terms of 24 months
tenure, unlisted, unsecured and bearing interest at the rate
of 9% per annum and redeemable after 18 months. The
debenture was registered in the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
The subscribers were financial institutions approved and
designed by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. During the year
ended 31 March 2015, Jiangsu Kedi has repurchased a part of
debenture with aggregate principal amount of RMB21,924,000
and the loss arising on repurchase of RMB278,000 (equivalent
to HK$352,000) was recognised in profit or loss. At 31 March
2016, the outstanding debentures with aggregate principal
amount of RMB15,612,000 have been overdue. Further details
are included in note 44(b).

Other loan carries interest of 3% (2015: 3%) per annum, is
repayable on 7 May 2016 and denominated in HKD.

The shareholder’s loan is unsecured, interest free and repaid
on 5 May 2015.

Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group's prepaid land lease
payments situated in the PRC, which had an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting
period of approximately HK$9,937,000 (2015:
HK$10,720,000); and

(if) mortgages over the Group’s buildings, which had an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting
period of approximately HK$11,220,000 (2015:
HK$25,924,000).

At 31 March 2016, a director of the Company has provided
guarantees in favour of a bank for the Group's bank loans of
HK$128,895,000 (2015: HK$75,949,000) granted to the Group.
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33. PROVISION 33. B

Beginning of the year REH] -

Provision for legal claim (note 44(a)) ERREEE(ME44@) 55,002

End of the year REXR 55,002
34. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 34. EEFIBEE (BHE)

2015

—E—XRF —E—HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHxT T

Deferred tax assets FEFRTBE B 4,477 4,037

Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE (584) (48)

3,893 3,989
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34. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 4. EEMBEE (8F8) @
(Continued)
The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities NTRRAFERBAEFE 2 EERTEN
and their movements during the current and prior years: BEENBEREHEE)

Fair value

adjustments

on prepaid

Fairvalue land lease

adjustments  payments
on property, and other  Accelerated
plantand  intangible tax

equipment assets depreciation  Taxlosses  Net Amount
Bt
nE BER  AENER
RfEe HtEEEL
NABERE  AAERE  MERERE HEEE FHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i i Thr Thr Thr

At April 2014 R-2-NENA—-A 3719 (7,450) - - (3,731)
Deferred tax charged t0 RERRIR  EERE
statement of profit or [0ss il 7497 - - 7,768

Bxchange differences ELER 47 (95) - - (48)

At 31 March 2015 R-E-1%=A=1+-H 4,037 (48) - - 3989

Acquisition of a business (note 38) EHUREE (M:E38) - (116) - - (116)

Deferred tax charged to RERRIBZELEHE

statement of profit or loss 15 5 (427) 522 215

Exchange differences EHER (197) 2 - - (195)

At 31 March 2016 R-E-xE=A=1-H 3,955 (157) (427) 522 3,893
At 31 March 2016, the Group has unrecognised tax losses RZZE—RF=A=+—H  A5ERE
of the subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong and in the PRC BRAPBEGEE Y FRARZAERTRISEE
of approximately HK$31,953,000 and HK$15,186,000 (2015: 7 Bl 7%31,953,0007% 7T & 15,186,000/% 7T
HK$15,027,000 and HK$19,609,000) respectively. (ZZ—FF : 15,027,000/ 7T £2.19,609,000

PBIT) °

Deferred tax asset in respect of unused tax losses has not R A A 4 Eh A B 75 B 48 2 R AR s A1 S AT
been recognised in the financial statements due to the TR - B AR B TS TR R AR B B R ED
unpredictability of future profit streams against which the ANRBEER BELEHRBEEE - RABELE
tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses of the subsidiaries ZFRARZBHBBENEERF - MBE
operating in the PRC can be carried forward for 5 years, while WITBBED - REBKEZAEEET
tax losses of the companies within the Group operating in AR BTGB R P PR B4 RS o

Hong Kong can carry forward their tax losses indefinitely
under the current tax legislation.
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35. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(a)

6% convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$130,000,000 due on 4
November 2018 (the “CB 2018")

On 5 November 2015, the Company issued the
CB 2018 in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$123,000,000 due in 2018 with a conversion price of
HK$0.05 per share. The terms of CB 2018 are satisfied
the “fixed for fixed” rule in HKAS 32. The proceeds
of the CB 2018 were allocated into two components,
debt and equity elements on initial recognition. The
equity element is presented in equity component of
convertible bonds. The CB 2018 have been valued as
at 5 November 2015 on the basis carried out at that
date by an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected with the Group.

The CB 2018 issued during the year have been split
into the liability and equity components as follows:

35. A#REZ

(a)

ZX £ %8130,000,00078 T A
—E-N\Ft+—HAWHAZH
Z6% R ES (= —N\
FaBRRES]
RZZ—RF+—ARAB  XAA
1T & #2%8 123,000,000 TR =
T-NFRHz T \FEA B
&% @ RIREABRR00SET - =
- N\FABRBRELFZERFTEE
BETEAFERRIETHRET B
Eeo T \FaRESFZMB
HBEDEZMEZLD @ BIYILHE
REFZ BB RERE D =KD
RATBRESR 2w D 25 - =
T-N\FABRBREFN T —AF
T—ARRAETHE BEEARAK
SEVEMEZBIYSEKEEM
EERZ B Fr#ETE -

FRABRTZ T N\FALRE
FEHRDRATABERERIED

Nominal value of convertible bonds issued FRERITAIRRES

during the year ZHE 130,000
Equity component =D (28,146)
Direct transaction costs BERSHKAE (6,898)
Liability component at the issuance date RETRBZBESD 94,956
Effective interest expense for the year FRERF SR 7,114
Liability component at end of the year RERZBEDBD 102,070

MR EERERDF — T NFFR
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35.

140

CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)

(@) 6% convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$130,000,000 due on 4
November 2018 (the “CB 2018") (continued)

The principal terms of the CB 2018 are as follows:

(i) conversion

The bondholder of the CB 2018 has the
right (the “Conversion Right”) to convert the
outstanding principal amount of the CB 2018
in whole or in part into shares of the Company
(the “Conversion Shares”) at any time following
the date of issue until the maturity date of the

CB 2018.

The number of Conversion Shares to be
issued on exercise of a Conversion Right
shall be determined by dividing the principal
amount of the CB 2018 being converted by
HK$0.05 (the “Conversion Price”), subject to
customary adjustments in the events of share
consolidation, share subdivision, capitalisation
issues, capital distribution, rights issue and
issues of other securities below 80% of
market price. In the opinion of the Directors,
the adjustments to Conversion Price in those
circumstances are all for anti-dilutive purpose
to protect the right of the bondholder of the CB

2018.

(ii) Early redemption

The Company is entitled to redeem the CB
2018 at 100% of the outstanding principal
amount of the CB 2018 (in whole or in part) at
any time and from time to time at the option of
the Company prior to the maturity date.

(iii)  Interest

The CB 2018 bears interest from and including
the date of its issue at the rate of 6% per
annum on the outstanding principal amount
thereof. The bondholders of the CB 2018 have
the option to request the Company to pay
the interest by the additional shares of the

Company instead of cash.

Code Agriculture (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2016

35.

AR (&)
(@) #A<%£%130,000,0007 T}

—E2-N\F+-ANBIH
Z6% KR ES ([ =F—N
FrRkRES )@@

—=F—

T

)

(ii)
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35. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 35. AMREZ @

(b) 1% convertible bonds in the principal (b) Z£%E1,098,000,0008 T
amount of HK$1,098,000,000 due on 24 R-ZE—HF=A=1+WTH
March 2015 (the “CB 2015") FHz1%UBRES ([ =F

—RFEABRES])
On 25 March 2010, the Company issued the CB 2015 R-E—ZTF=ZA-+HB AR
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$1,098,000,000 A) B 77N & 48 %1,098,000,000 7 7T
due in 2015 with a conversion price of HK$0.43 RIE—RFHH —FT—HFA]
per share. The conversion feature of the CB 2015 BmRES  BREAERKRMN0.43
constituted a hybrid contract, with a conversion B _E—RAFABBRES R
option derivative embedded into the convertible bond. BRBEAOREEH  WiH;AT
The terms of CB 2015 contained certain anti-dilution BMRESF 2 A REETETR - —
clauses which breach the “fixed for fixed” rule in HKAS T-hFABRESFZEREED
32. Therefore, the conversion option was regarded BREESIHEREEETHE
as a derivative. The proceeds of the CB 2015 were F IR ETRES IR - At
allocated into a financial liability at fair value through HBMHEESRATTETAR - =F
profit or loss on initial recognition. —RAFARRES 2 FTEKIBERT]
FSERFIAZ AR BT ABRZ
TRIAE -
The movements of the CB 2015 recognised as the BRBEARNEFABRZEME
financial liability at fair value through profit or loss of Bz TR RKRESFEESHN
are as follows: N
2015
—E—hF
HK$'000
FBT
Beginning of the year REH 609,897
Interest expenses waived (note 7) Bokz ez (H5E7) (6,224)
Redemption fE[ (192,041)
Change in fair value (note 8) ANEEEIC ) 46,594
Conversion into ordinary shares HimBE B (458,226)
End of the year RER -
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35. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)

1% convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$1,098,000,000 due on 24
March 2015 (the “CB 2015") (continued)

142

(b)

The principal terms and movements of the CB 2015
are as follows:

)

(i)

(i)

Conversion

The bondholder of CB 2015 has the right to
convert the whole or part of the outstanding
principal amount of the CB 2015 into share
at HK$0.43 each in the Company at any time
during the period commencing from the expiry
of the second anniversary of the date of issue
of the CB 2015.

On 17 March 2015, the bondholder converted
the entire outstanding CB 2015 with an
aggregate of principal amount of HK$459,730,500
at conversion price of HK$0.43 per share into
1,069,140,697 ordinary shares of the Company.
Further details of the transaction were set out
in the announcement of the Company dated
17 March 2015.

Early redemption

The Company is entitled to require redemption
of the CB 2015 or any part thereof at any time
up to (and excluding) the commencement of
the seven calendar day period ending on the
fifth anniversary of the issue date at a price
equal to such principal amount of the CB 2015
redeemed plus any interest accrued thereon.
The Company had made the early redemption
of part of CB 2015 at the principal amount of
HK$192,670,000 on 11 March 2015.

Interest

The CB 2015 bears interest at the rate of 1%
per annum and interest will be payable to the
bondholder semiannually in arrears on 30 June
and 31 December in each year. As agreed with
the bondholder of the CB 2015, the interest of
the CB 2015 for the year ended 31 March 2015
was waived with the objective of improving the
profitability and liquidity of the Group.
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36. SHARE CAPITAL

Notes to the Financial Statements Bt &R =Kz

36. BA

Par value of Number of Nominal
each share shares value
BRRAEE RAEE [ETL=]
HK$ HK$'000
BT TET
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 RZZ—MNFmNA-B R
—E-RF¥=fA=1+—H 0.01 10,000,000,000 100,000
Share consolidation (note (a)) WA B (B @) (9,000,000,000) -
Share sub-division (note (a)) WA 48 (F3E(a)) 999,000,000,000 -
Share consolidation (note (c)) Wbt (HisEC)) (750,000,000,000) -
At 31 March 2016 R-B—-ARE=A=+—H 0.0004 250,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid BRTRBERT
At 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 RZT-NEFMA—AR
“E-R¥=ZfA=1+—H 0.01 3,782,938,941 37,829
Issue of shares (note (b)) BTG (P FED) 542,000,000 5,420
Share consolidation (note (a)) B & Bt (Fif3E@)) (3,892,445,047) -
Capital reduction (note (a)) A EIR (B (@) - (43,2006)
Share consolidation (note (c)) Bt A BF (B EE(C) (324,370,421) -
At 31 March 2016 R-ZB—-AE=A=+—H 0.0004 108,123,473 43
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36. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

144

Notes:

@)

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the Shareholders
at the SGM held on 21 August 2015, the share consolidation,
capital reduction and share sub-division had been taken
place and completed on 24 August 2015:

0]

(i)

(i)

share consolidation whereby every ten issued and
unissued shares of HK$0.01 each were consolidated
into one consolidated share of HK$0.10 each;

capital reduction whereby the nominal value of all
the issued consolidated shares was reduced from
HK$0.10 each to HK$0.0001 each by cancelling
paid-up capital to the extent of HK$0.0999 on each
consolidated share so as to form the adjusted Share
of HK$0.0001 each; and

the sub-division was made of each of the authorised
but unissued consolidated shares of HK$0.10 each
into 1,000 adjusted shares of HK$0.0001 each.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company has
completed three tranches of the placing of new shares under
general mandate as follows:

(iv)

On 21 April 2015, the Company entered into the
placing agreement with the placing agent to place
to not less than six independent placees for up to
542,000,000 shares at a price of HK$0.07 per placing
shares. A total of 142,000,000 placing shares had
been successfully placed on 29 April 2015 and
the net proceed received from the placing was
approximately HK$9,641,000;

On 11 May 2015, the Company entered into the
placing agreement with the placing agent to place
to not less than six independent placees for up
to 400,000,000 shares at a price of HK$0.074 per
placing shares. A total of 142,000,000 placing shares
had been successfully placed on 26 May 2015 and
the net proceed received from the placing was
approximately HK$10,192,000; and

On 2 June 2015, the Company entered into the
placing agreement with the placing agent to place
to not less than six independent placees for up
to 258,000,000 shares at a price of HK$0.075 per
placing shares. A total of 258,000,000 placing shares
had been successfully placed on 11 June 2015 and
the net proceed received from the placing was
approximately HK$18,768,000.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
Shareholders at the SGM held on 14 October 2015, the
share consolidation had been taken place and completed
on 15 October 2015. Every four issued and unissued shares
of HK$0.0001 each in the capital of the Company were
consolidated into one share of HK$0.0004 each.
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37.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) has been adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 9 February 2009 for the
primary purpose to enable the Company to grant options’ to
eligible participants to subscribe for shares of the Company
and will expire on 8 February 2019. Under the Scheme, the
Board may grant options to the eligible participants, including
an employee, a director, a supplier of goods or services, a
customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, an agent,
adviser, consultant, strategist, contractor, sub-contractor,
expert or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any valuable services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any securities issued by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point of
time, without prior approval from the Shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point of time, without prior approval
from the Shareholders. Options granted to directors, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any
of their associates shall be approved by the independent
non-executive Directors and in any event that the proposed
participant is an independent non-executive director of the
Company, the vote of such independent non-executive
director shall not be counted for the purpose of approving
such grant. Options granted to independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or
with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Shareholders.

The amount payable for the acceptance of an option granted
by the Company under Scheme shall be the sum of HK$1.
Options may be exercised at any time specified on the Option
certificate sealed by the Company. The exercise price of an
option is determined by the Board, and will not be less than
the greater of (i) the closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (i) the
average closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

37.
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37.

146

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 37.
(Continued)

No share option of the Company has been granted under
the Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2016. The following
table sets out movements in the Company’s share options
under the Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2015.

Exercise
Grant date price

R B8 1118
HK$
BT

Employees E8

10 December 2010 (note) —Z-TFE+-A+HMHE) 0.163

Consultants El

10 December 2010 (note) —“Z-TFE+- A+HME) 0.163

3 October 2012 —T-—F+H=H 0.163

Director E=

3 0ctober 2012 —ET——F+/=H 0.163

U AER RS #)

BE_Z-—RF=ZA=1+—RHILFE #
ERBEERBARRBRE - TRES
RBE-ZT-AF=A=1t—HLFER
RIBFEIRE 2 AR RBRE 2 EH -

Outstanding Lapsed  Outstanding
at 1 April during at 31 March
2014 the year 2015
RZZE—MmF RZE—hE
mMA—A =+—H
WATTE  RERRK RATTHE

5,000,000 (5,000,000) -

25,000,000 (25,000,000) -
135,000,000 (135,000,000) -

7,000,000 (7,000,000) -

172,000,000 (172,000,000) -

Exercisable at the end of the year RERAI{T{E

172,000,000 (172,000,000) -

Weighted average exercise price i FH77{E(E

0.163 0.163 -

Note:

On 3 October 2012, the Company modified the details of the
outstanding share options previously granted by the Company on 10
December 2010. The exercise price of 60,000,000 the outstanding
share options at the date of modification was reduced from HK$0.328
per share to HK$0.163 per share.
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38.

ACQUISITION OF A BUSINESS 38. WiEEER
On 30 December 2015, the Group acquired a business from R-ZZE—RAF+-_A=+H KEBUK
Super Car Service Company for a consideration of HK$1.7 EB17EBBTWE —TEREERARZ
million. The business is engaged in the provision of car i ZEBRBETIEZBARRERS -
beauty and maintenance services. This acquisition was made REWETEARNEBNESFRITER
as part of the Group's strategy to commence a new operation KRBz —3bfn ©
in Hong Kong.
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities at the AHFREEREBERKEBRR AREN
date of acquisition were as follows: T
2016
—E—RE
HK$'000
FERT
Property, plant and equipment PIEE - B NRE 16 476
Tradename L 19 337
Customer relationship =PER 19 365
Customers' receipt in advance MEFEW Z FIE (235)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEAE 34 (116)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAREREZAIREAFEEAR 827
Goodwill on acquisition WHEEA 2 a8 18 873
Total consideration satisfied by cash WIRE S 2 R E 1,700
The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$161,000 for this NER E B TE W E A X 5K A8 161,000
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and TC ZERSHNAE LW AGZAER
are included in administrative expenses in the consolidated KANZITERFAS ©

statement of profit or 0ss.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of this acquisition is as BHERBREZRERESNET
follows:
HK$'000
FExT
Cash consideration included in cash flows AAREESZREREY
from investing activities HERE 1,700
Transaction costs included in cash flows NSRS ReREL
from operating activities R B 161
1,861
Since the acquisition, the car beauty operation contributed BRBWEIAR  REEREEREE =
HK$718,000 to the Group’s revenue and HK$500,000 to the E—ARFE-ZA=tT—HLEFEAAREEHIK
consolidated loss for the year ended 31 March 2016. A ER718,0007% 7T K $%15 47 & &5 18500,000
BIT °
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148

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group disposed
of its entire equity interest in the New Success Group to an
independent third party for a consideration of HK$1, and its
50.5% equity interests in Henan Baorong to a non-controlling
shareholder for a consideration of RMB5,050,000 (equivalent
to HK$6,313,000).

The net assets/(liabilities) of the New Success Group and
Henan Baorong at the date of disposal were as follows:

39. HEFAH

HE_Z-—RF=A=+—HILFE K
SEHEERTBEEZ2HRET %
BUF=T7 RERVET  ARHLEER
7] e B @t 2 50.5% i T — R IR AR AR
RAE A AREES,050,0007T (FHE 76,313,000
FBIT) e

HESERAEERNEERHRZFE
E/(AfE)WT :

New Success Henan
Group Baorong 2015
S A E R —T—RE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR

Property, plant and equipment Wi - #R R

(note 16) A (HE16) 12,709 424 13,133
Inventories FE 5,208 2,337 7,545
Trade receivables FEU AR 3R 988 482 1,470
Other receivables Hib el R IE 28,079 12,418 40,497
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHES 80 52 132
Trade payables FESER TR (268) (5,570) (5,838)
Other payables and accruals HAbERFRIE R

FEETE R (14,900) (1,163) (16,063)
Borrowings BE (40,660) - (40,660)
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR AR 3,074 (4,484) (1,410)
Net assets/(liabilities) disposed of — HE&EFEE (AfE) (5,690) 4,496 (1,194)
Exchange reserve released on PO R AR BRI

disposal (3,395) (153) (3,548)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFRAR ZWE 9,085 1,970 11,055
Total consideration satisfied by cash LAIR & Sk~ 2 4812 (8 - 6,313 6,313

An analysis of the net cash flows in respect of the disposal of
subsidiaries is as follows:

BRLEFRARZASREFEINAT :

Cash consideration ReERE - 6,313 6,313
Less: cash and bank balances W HEZRE N

disposed of RITHERR (80) (52) (132)
Net cash inflow arising from HEEHEEELEZ

disposal WERAFE (80) 6,261 6,181
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40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group operates the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the plans are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control
of trustees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit plan is to make the specified contribution.

The Group recognised retirement benefit contributions of
HK$1,545,000 (2015: HK$1,449,000) for the year ended 31
March 2016.

41. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases falling due as follows:

40.

41.

BARERIET S

EEHTRKEE
AEBAFMALEARBEBRERTRES
B SHElZ AERERARHZESR
A BAREZEES RS -

AEETEFRRZEE DB BEBMFL
%Z%%@LWEﬂ?&UZWE ° %F
BIZBRF A Z R TE B D AR
%aa?T'JquilH’EHiﬁi\ AARZERMERE
c BLURRERNIEEIME - ANEEZME—
ﬁﬁz\%f’ﬁtﬂ% TR o

AEERBE_T—A"F=A=1T—H1
FERERRIKENEEI#1581,545,0008 7T

ZE—A :1,449,0007T)

KA S AE

REBHF  AEERETTHBECLHA
ERU TR kR SERE N2
Eh

2016
—E-ARF

HK$'000
TR

Within one year —FR 6,538 3,040
In the second to fifth years inclusive TEERF(BIEERMF) 176 1,167
6,714 4,207

The Group leases a number of properties and office
equipment under operating lease arrangements. The leases
for properties run for an initial period of 1 to 3 years, and
office equipment is for five years. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

AEERBEEHEERHEARETYER
MRERE - MEDTEBMN F1E3F -
MPAERENIEYRSEF - ZFH
EHTEHAEE -
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42. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 42.

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group or borrowings of the Group as disclosed in note 32 to
the financial statements:

BEEERA

REENTZEED THER  MMEAAE
BAER - RRTBBIAKEERE 2K
R (RN A T SRR P FE 32T R )

2015
—T-h%F
HK$'000
THET

2016
—E—RE

HK$°000
TR

Prepaid land lease payments A A EFIA 9,937 10,720
Buildings gF 11,220 25,924
21,157 36,644

43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 43. HAREE

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had contingent liabilities in
terms of potential litigations in the PRC of total amount of
approximately HK$11.3 million (2015: Nil).

Except as disclosed above, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2016.
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44,

LITIGATION

(a)

(2015) Xi Min Chu Zi No. 0005¢

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
18 June 2015, there was a legal proceeding in the PRC
(the “PRC Proceeding”), namely (2015) Xi Min Chu Zi
No. 0005% ((2015)#5 R ¥ 5 2500055%) whereby Jiangsu
Kedi, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, together with Jiangsu Zhongsai Environment
Technology Company Limited# (FEIRBEHFERA
7)), Shan Xiaochang#* (2% &) and Shan Zhuojun# (88
HFE), were named as co-defendants in their capacity
of guarantors to the Alleged Loan (as defined in
aforesaid announcement) owing by Jiangsu Yonglu
Fertilizer Company Limited (“Jiangsu Yonglu”)* (T &k
BAERIER A ) to the plaintiff, Mei Jingsong* (1§
#2). The hearing of the PRC Proceeding was held on 4
August 2015. A judgment was subsequently handed
down against Jiangsu Yonglu and the co-defendants.
Jiangsu Yonglu was required to pay RMB44.6 million
together with the interests incurred thereon to the
plaintiff, and the other co-defendants were required
to undertake the responsibilities of joint guarantee
but were granted the right of recourse against Jiangsu
Yonglu. The Company is in the course of seeking legal
advice from its PRC legal advisor and will make further
announcement(s) on any significant development.

Shan Xiaochang (“Mr. Shan”) was the legal
representative of Jiangsu Kedi at the date of signing
the guarantee in question over the Alleged Loan
during the material time. According to a declaration
made by Mr. Shan dated 9 June 2015, he confirmed
that the Board has never authorised him to enter
into such guarantee on behalf of Jiangsu Kedi. In the
opinion of the PRC legal advisor of the Company,
the validity of the guarantee in question over the
Alleged Loan is doubtful. However, based on the civil
judgment dated 24 May 2016, the Directors made the
full provision of HK$55,002,000 for the year ended 31
March 2016.

44.

Mt REZRERDF

(2015)35 ¥ 5000555
HMARRAYPR-—F—REFRN
ATNBZREREE - AR
KBS R — R FFR (R EER
#A1) - B(2015)85 R4 F % 00055% -
Bt - TEEB (KRR ZEREE
FRE)ERTPEREMEBERA
Al - BRSREEETH#HKEAL
MBRRE(I#E KRR
SRR FEHERCEE LA R
F)ZERAF DB IEE RS LR
T PEFRZRAR T —HF
NAME 817 o JTHE KRR R
EHEREEHIR - BRITHKIER
REXMARBM A ETTERE
FAE - HfoKRmERARITHR
RERET 2EE @ ERR R &
IKIRIBE Z AR o AARIRIEME
FTERARBRSIOAEER - I
HREMBERERELE-FRE -

REEsEZ > ERS((EXEDR
EHERREZRT Z2ERBHY
RITER OERRR - RIREL
LB A-—T—RAEANA
ZEBE REREFIUERRER
RRIFHBIET LB BER - A2
AP BEERERRR  EERERE
B2 ERZBRIEREE - AT -
ERNBEHRA-ZT—AR"FRAA-T+X
BZREHR BEFEREBE_T
—ANFZA=T—HLFEEELE
555,002,000/ 7T ©

—ERFFR 151



Notes to the Financial Statements B #5 3R 3 KizE

44,

152

LITIGATION (continued)

(b)

(c)

(2015) Xi Bin Shang Chu Zi No. 00179¢#

Jiangsu Kedi received a civil judgment, namely (2015)
Xi Bin Shang Chu Zi No. 00179# ((2015) 38 #)=
£001795%) whereby Jiangsu Kedi, together with Yi
Xing Shen Li Chemical Company Limited# (& % 5|
{ETHR A7), Ma Jungant (&%), Jiang Yiqunt (&
258 and Pan Xiaogin* (EEE=), were named as co-
defendants in their capacity of guarantors of the a
loan amounted to RMB4.4 million owned by Shi Lixin
(2 FI{2) to the plaintiff, Wuxi City Binhu District Taihu
Rural Village Small Loan Company Limited# (4§58
MR AR N EERERAR).

After a preliminary investigation, the Directors are
of opinion of that the allegation made by the plaintiff
against Jiangsu Kedi is not justifiable. To the best
knowledge and information available, the Group and
Jiangsu Kedi have never authorised the provision
of the alleged guarantee to the plaintiff over the
loan. Nevertheless, the Group has established a
committee and engaged a PRC legal advisor to follow
up this litigation. The Company will make further
announcement(s) on any significant development of
this litigation when it considers necessary.

(2015) Xi Bin Shang Chu Zi No. 00180+
Jiangsu Kedi received a civil judgment, namely (2015)
Xi Bin Shang Chu Zi No. 00180 ((2015) $3/&m )7
00180%5%) whereby Jiangsu Kedi, together with Yi Xing
Shen Li Chemical Company Limited* (2 # B F{r T
AR AR, Jiang Yiqun* (#2z58%) and Pan Xiaogin* (%
BEE), were named co-defendants in their capacity of
guarantors of the a loan amounted to RMB5 million
owned by Ma Jungan* (§5 &%) to the plaintiff, Wuxi
City Binhu District Taihu Rural Village Small Loan
Company Limited* (85T B M@ A EN NEEHE
RAA].

After a preliminary investigation, the Directors are
of opinion of that the allegation made by the plaintiff
against Jiangsu Kedi is not justifiable. To the best
knowledge and information available, the Group and
Jiangsu Kedi have never authorised the provision
of the alleged guarantee to the plaintiff over the
loan. Nevertheless, the Group has established a
committee and engaged a PRC legal advisor to follow
up this litigation. The Company will make further
announcement(s) on any significant development of
this litigation when it considers necessary.
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(2015)85 B ¥ F 550017955
T EREHB U R —IB 4R SE A(2015)15 8
B FE0795Er REHTEE - &
it IEHRERE BRI L TA
BAaE - 52 BB ERE
NSRS ERREESTERR
KHEN/NBERERATZER
ARBAABETZERAB DI
EALREE

RIFHER  EERR/RELET
BER 2 BB TSR - BLEFTR
AL FEER - AN B KT # P
ARRERAZERARERER
TBIER - A ARBEKIERE
g - WHEFP A REMRELF
A o ARAFRER S B EZE L
RRZEMERERIFELE-—FQ

%o

(2015)85 B ¥ F5£001805%

T ERFH U B —TRAR R (2015)878
BEHFHE00180EZ RERTES &
It - T &R EREE BN TH
RAA - Balt MERSUFER
PIT A& R IR & 4 85 OB W [ A8 B A
PNEREFRERDRZERARKSH
BLZERAFDREEHSHBRE

%o

RIFHER EERR/RELT
R 2 EEA T AR - AR
M PTEER - ANEE TR
ARRERZERARESRER
TBYELR - A - AREEKLERE
g - WISFH P BDARE R RAE LK
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A4. LITIGATION (continued) 44. FREAE)

(d) (2015) Xi Zhong Bao Zi No. 0062* (d) (2015)85 19 4R F 26006255
The Company received a civil judgment of (2015) Xi RZZE—RFNAZH ' AAAIHK
Zhong Bao Zi No. 0062# ((2015)$3{H{RF5500625%) B —IE4R 5% A(2015)83 R T 550062
(the "Judgment”) on 2 September 2015, which was HEoREHEE(NHEZ]) AR
related to a dispute (the“Dispute”) arising from the BFRARNEAEREAAREKEIZIE
small and medium-sized enterprise placement bonds BLZR/NELEES([FR D
(the “SME Private Bonds") of outstanding aggregate HENEES S 2UD (24
principal amount of RMB33.3 million. According to W)  BEBERTE  ZHFEBA
the Judgment, the applicants of the Dispute (the (THBADER=_ZE—RAFARAHR
“Applicants”) had applied for arbitration in May 2015. BihE - RBEABRRESHAR
The Applicants had demanded to freeze the sum of BB 8T IHRIRITER
RMB41 million in the bank account of Jiangsu Kedi TEREH HMEEEEZEE - &
or other assets of equivalent amount of Jiangsu EARERY ARG EMEHEBA
Kedi. Up to the date of this report, the Company has BERNDELEEHFARKISS
repaid the Applicants RMB15.6 million together with BELERABEFE - s T
relevant accrued interest of the SME Private Bonds. MARAREMS @ AN ARl ERBEHE
For the remaining outstanding principal, the Company, EEMN P B EB AR ETT
through its legal advisor is actively in negotiating with =R - RRRBHRERBLERH
the Applicants in the PRC. The Company will make ZAUB TN BERERELE—F
further announcement(s) on any substantial progress DE - HIER2HEARRBHAS
towards the Dispute when it considers necessary. For T-RAFNLANB 2% -
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 4 September 2015.

# The English name in this report is for reference only. The
official name is in Chinese.

Based on the legal opinion of the PRC legal advisors, the BERPBEERERZEEEZR EER5

Directors are of the view that except as disclosed above, no br LT EEIN REEZZ—RFR

further provision for the legal claim was made for the years —T-RAFZ A=+ BUFEHARE

ended 31 March 2016 and 2015. EREIELBEINEE -
45. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 45. BERRS
Transactions with related parties HEEIZRS

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transaction with a related party:

FA - AREE-BEENFILIATRS

2016
—E-ARF

2015
—F-RF
HK$'000
TAT

HK$'000
FH

—fERE R FF BHA
(PfE)

Interest income from a related company
(note)
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45.

46.

154

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Note:

The Directors, Ms. Jingguan Yingzi and Mr. Wu Zhongxin are the
shareholders of this related company.

Remuneration for key management personnel represents
amount paid to the Directors as disclosed in note 11 to the
financial statements.

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
there was no other material related party transaction during
the year.

Balances with related parties

Balances and transactions between the Company and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this
note.

Balances with related parties are disclosed in notes 26, 31
and 32 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions disclosed above did not fall
under the definition of connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules,
with which the Company has complied throughout the year
unless otherwise disclosed.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
OF THE COMPANY

45.

46.

BAER R (#)
PEE -

EEHRBHXLERRFOEERMBEERRZ
JRIR -

TREEABME IR RRM T
BZENEFZHA-

BRIk A B PRI EE SN
B SEEMEAEENIRS -

NV

BE AR
AAREEF AT (BAARZBES )
2B P B R 1 A
TR -

BRAIE )y 2 N R R M 26 - 31
2R -

EXABEEREESRSAIFRIER EHR
AIF0EMRE2BEIHHFEBER
5 BRABREEIN  ARAREREEF
RETHEBEBTE °

AR B I BRI R

As at 31 March MR=A=+—H
2016 2015
—EB—RE —ZT—hHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current assets ERBARG
Investments in subsidiaries RFREIZEE = -
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note (a)) FEW A B IE (MfsE(@)) 127,383 88,952
Prepayments, deposits and TENFIE - e Rk
other receivables H e Y GRIE 1,142 1,142
Amount due from a related company e —FEREEA T
(note (b)) FIAE(MEED)) 2,532 -
Held-to-maturity investment BAEERHEE 5,031 -
Cash and cash equivalents HeRES%EY 55,226 226
191,314 90,320
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 46. NN TR IR (@)

OF THE COMPANY (continued)
As at 31 March (continued)

R=A=+—RA#)

2016
=

HK$'000
FEx

2015
S
HK$'000
FiBT

Current liabilities REBEE

Amounts due to subsidiaries (note (a)) FERFARIFRIE(KI:E@)) 568,776 569,591

Accruals fEEtER 1,989 2,825

Amount due to a director [EN—RESEHE = 50

Borrowings EBE 55,678 56,080
626,443 628,546

Net current liabilities REBEEFHE (435,129) (538,226)

Total assets less current liabilities BEABRRBARS (435,129) (538,226)

Non-current liability FREBEE

Convertible bonds AR ES 102,070 -

Net liabilities BEEE (537,199) (538,226)

EQUITY P

Capital and reserves BRAR G

Share capital R A 43 37,829

Reserves (note (c)) & (MI3E) (537,242) (576,055)

Capital deficiency N (537,199) (538,226)

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors

ARAFBRAKRER T —RNFNA
Tt EESEES R ERKRETE XA

>l

on 27 June 2016 and were signed on its behalf. IWTALTRABESE -
Jingquan Yingzi Wang Anyuan
HRIK EFRT
Director Director
EE FE
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 46. NN TR IR (@)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

As at 31 March (continued) R=A=+—RH#E)

Notes: BiE -

(a) Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, non- (a) U N FATIRIEAEER « Tt E
interest bearing and repayable on demand. BEREK(ER -

(b) The amount due from Cyberland (China) Limited, a non- (b) FEUFL (R B B BR A B (AN A R IR
controlling shareholder of the Company is unsecured, carries BRERAR) ZFIBAAEER - IRFEES%
interest of 5% to 7% per annum, is repayable within one year. E7% B AER—FREE -

(© A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (© RATEEBZNT

Equity
component
Share  of convertible Merger  Contributed  Share option  Accumulated
premium bonds reserve surplus reserve losses
TgRES
RitifE ERD it | gAR%  BRERE ZiER
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
T i Thn T Thr Thn
At 1 April 2014 R-Z-BEFRA-A 1,048,002 = 13,107 = 7915 (1,630,085) (561,061)
Loss for the year EEEE = = = - - (462,529) (462,529)
Conversion of convertblebond ~ JHR AR ES 7535 - - - - - 7535
Share ption scheme HRETE
- Lapsed during the year ~EREN = = = - (7919) 7915 -
At31 March and R-E-RE-A=1-A
1 April 2015 RER-A 1495537 = 13,107 - - (2,084,699 (576,055)
Loss for the year FEEE = = = = = (65,720) (65,720
IssLie of shares £ 3,181 - - - - - 3,181
Capital reduction BERA - - - 4282 - - 4282
Share premium reduction HIRRAEE (1,495,000) - - 1,495,000 = = =
Share consolidation BOED - - - B9 - - .92
Set-off contributed surplus against 323t ERH
accumulated losses I - = - (1,538,206) - 1,538,206 -
Issiie of convertible bonds EAUaRES = 28146 - - - - 28146
At 31 March 2016 H=8-*E=f=1-8 33718 28,146 13,107 - - 2y (531.40)
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47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March
2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

FARER

Kang Yuan Universal
Investment Limited
REERREBRLE]

Jiangsu Kedi Modern
Agriculture Co., Ltd.

TEHARRRARAT

Zhengzhou Ruihao
Tobacco Technology
Company Limited*

PmREENRERAT

Sky Dragon Digital
Television and Movies
Limited

REIBHRBRAT

Hunan Xiaoxiang Digital
Television Broadcast
Company Limitec*

HERRETERERLA

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

iR/
AR

Hong Kong

BR

The PRC

PE

The PRC

P

Hong Kong

BE

The PRC

PE

Particulars of
issued and paid
up share capital/
registered capital
BRARBERE/
HREAFE

10,000 shares of
HKD1 per share
10000%5REEETL
i

USD11,600,000

11,600,000% 7T

RMB10,000,000

AR10,000,0007

21,000,000 shares of
HKD1 per share

21,000,000 S RAEE
vl v

RMB61,258,000

ARH61,258,0007

Group's
effective interest

AR ERER
2016 2015
Z2-3E _T-0fF
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%

70% 70%

47. FE

FRAFE
ZE-RERZE—RF=ZA=1+—
F RRBEBFRRIFBET ¢
Percentage held
by the Company
indirectly Principal activities
RATEEREZ
BAlt TEEK
2016 2015
“E-3E —T-1%
100% 100% Investment holding
REBR
100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of
tobacco flue-curing
agricultural machinery
HEREEEELRRERN
100% 100% Trading of agricultural
machinery
BERLHEN
100% 100%  Investment holding
RERR
70% 70% Provision of digital
television service
RESTERRE
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47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

158

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Name of subsidiaries  and operation

Eﬂﬂﬁkﬁ/
AR EE B

FARER

47. FEFNRFHE#E)

Particulars of
issued and paid
up share capital/
registered capital
BRARBERE/
EERFE

Percentage held
by the Company
indirectly
RAREEREL
ARl
2016
ZE-RE

Group's

effective interest Principal activities

rEEZERER
2016 2015
“B-NE —Z-h%

IERK

2015
“T-1F

Sparkle View Enterprises  British Virgin Islands 1 share of 100%
Limited USD1 per share
SERKERATA EBRIES REREBIET RS
Goodside International Hong Kong 1 share of 100%
Limited HKD1 per share
HEERERAR Bl RERER AT RS
Super Car Service Company - Hong Kong 1 share of 100%
Limited HKD1 per share
—RERBERLA Bk RERER AT RS
Success Start Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HKD1 per share 100%
RERRAA Bl REREB AT RS
& English translated name is for identification only.
# Formerly known as “Hong Kong Million Luck Mega Harvest

International Trading Company Limited”.

The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the Company
at 31 March 2016 which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affected the Group's results for the year or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
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100%

100%

100%

100%

100% 100% Investment holding

T

100% 100%  Investment holding

AZR

100% 100% Provision of car beauty and

maintenance Services
RECAEEAREE RS
100%

100% Money lending

i

6 AR EEBERENERESBERA

Alle

ERINRARBANR -E-RF=ZA=1+—
BZFRA EFRR ZFTRAREHEAK
SEAERXERNEBZELUBRAE
BMEEFEZERED -
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48.

49.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

On 22 April 2016, the Company entered into the
placing agreement with the placing agent, pursuant to
which the placing agent agreed amongst other things
to procure not less than six placees, or failing which
itself as principal on a fully underwritten basis, to
subscribe for HK$120 million of the convertible bonds
by one or more tranches of not less than HK$1 million
each. Further details of the placing were set out the
announcements of the Company dated 22 April 2016
and 3 June 2016 and the circular of the Company
dated 18 May 2016.

On 11 May 2016, the bondholders of the CB 2018 have
converted the CB 2018 with the principal amount
of HK$2,000,000 and the outstanding interest of
HK$60,000 at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share
into 41,203,286 ordinary shares of the Company.

On 1 June 2016, the bondholders of the CB 2018 have
converted the CB 2018 with the principal amount
of HK$3,000,000 and the outstanding interest of
HK$98,000 at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share
into 61,952,874 ordinary shares of the Company.

On 15 June 2016, the bondholders of the CB 2018
have converted the CB 2018 with the principal amount
of HK$4,000,000 and the outstanding interest of
HK$142,000 at conversion price of HK$0.05 per share
into 82,840,544 ordinary shares of the Company.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements,
due to the application of the above new or revised HKFRSS in
the current year, the presentation and disclosures of certain
items and balances in the financial statements have been
revised to comply with the new requirements. Accordingly,
certain comparative amounts have been restated to conform
with the current year’s presentation and disclosures.

48.

49.

EHRYPRSIA

RZZE-—R"FEA=-+=H AR
AEEERET IR EHZ &
- BERERE(EPEFE)RE
HBEHEERETDRRNBARLA
FORBEMLL) EAFEREE AR
—HRZURBEB 1208 BB T2 A
RfExm  SHRBERATIMNIA
BET REZE-—FFHFBIARAE
RAIEHAR-_T—RFHA-+=
BE-ZE-—R"EXAZRZAER
ARRBHPA-ZT—AREFAATAN
BB -

—
D
=

by RZTE-—RFRA+-—AH =%
—NFRHAREES 2EHF
BEAREBMEEFROSE LRSS
# 732,000,000 % 7T B K & 7 &
60,000 T2 = — N\ FF| B a2
PR A8 25 5 #/341,203, 286 IR R A A E
A -

© RZZTE—FRF~A—H ZZF—N
FRHIBRKRESFCEFFEA
UHBEESROSHETEAEES
3,000,000 7t B 7K (& 1+ %1 £.98,000
B2 —E— \FEIH K ES
R AE61,952,874 AN B E AT o

d RZE—XRFEF~A+HHE =%
—NFRHHIRBRESF2EFF
BANRBRESROSETEASD
% /44,000,000 7T B & & 5 &
142,000/ 72 — 2 — N\FEHf T #
R AE % 5 42 582,840, 544[% AN~ &) &
A -

ma 02

AP B TS R M 5T 2. 2P0 — P RREE - |
RIRAE R R LA 35T REE LB EM
BHEED - FHHmRRAETHE REH
ZEVRWEE TEITATEHMTER
RS CERANFEZE2RTAREE
BHIETHB#T -
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Five-Year Financial Summary
hFIBHE

A summary of the published consolidated results and statement of T F|AREBRBEREN R GALEREES

assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years, are set out BEXRBE :
below:

RESULTS e

Continuing and discontinued operations
FECEEERER TR ER
Years ended 31 March
BLIE=A=+—-HLEFE

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
—E-RE —E-RHE —T-NOE —T-—=F

(Restated)

(Z751)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHEIT FEL FAT FHEL

Revenue WA 19,451 131,091 487,956 734,660 663,896
(Loss)/Profit attributable to the KARER A

owners of the Company FE{E (E1R), /S5 (233,399) (133,491) (247,690) (248,806) 50,463

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 March
M=A=+—H

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

—E-RE —THF —EOF —T-=F —T—=F

(Restated)

(&71)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHT FET TAL FHET

Total assets EERE 276,325 341,652 735420 1,257,870 1,817,315

Total liabilities B EEE (554,605) 461,537)  (1174,541)  (1,451,724)  (1,773,702)

(278,280) (119,885 (439,121) (193,854) 43,613
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